Reel Consonant and Vowel Book

Authors:

Mark Akec Cien
Andrew Agok Igai Piiny
David Mabor Makuei Angong
John Malak Balang Kerjok
Daniel Majier Johou
David Kuacreng Nhial

Trial Edition South Sudan Workshop Program

This book is used to teach how t	o better read an	d write Reel by	learning the	consonant and
vowel sounds of the language.				

© 2015, Reel Language Committee & SIL South Sudan

Trial Edition October 2015

Publisher: South Sudan Workshop Program

Place of Publication: Juba

Introduction

This book shows how to write words so that readers can more easily know the correct meaning. We will learn three spelling rules that help reading and writing, as well as all the sounds that join together to make words. This book is for Reel readers and writers. It is especially important for those writing books and translating Scripture to understand the lessons of this book.

Each of the Reel words in this book is listed in the Reel Word List at the end of the book. If you need to check the correct spelling of a word, you can look for the word at the end of this book.

There are English words in this book that may be new to you. Each new word is <u>underlined</u> and explained when it is first used. If you later see the word and forget what it means, you can also find it explained in the Glossary at the back of the book.

This book can be taught to participants in a workshop. A person can also use this book to teach himself/herself without a workshop or instructor. You should read each lesson and then immediately do the exercise following the lesson. The exercise will help you test your understanding of the lesson. The answers to the exercises are in the back of the book. After completing an exercise, immediately check your answers to see how well you have understood. For each of your incorrect answers, try to understand the correct answer. Ask other Reel if you need help.

Contents

Introduction	3
Contents	
Reel Alphabet	
Syllables	5
Consonants	7
Consonants t and th	10
Consonants d and dh	
Consonants at the end of words	
Breathy and non-breathy vowels	
Long and short vowels	26
Vowels i, i and u before and after other vowels	
Vowels i, i and u at the end of words	
Tone	
Spelling Rules Reviewed	45
Reel Word List	
Glossary	61
Answers to Exercises	

Reel Alphabet

The first step in learning to read and write Reel is learning the alphabet. The Reel language has 33 letters, as shown in the following list of words.

Reel Alphabe	t		
A a	[a]	ayak	lion
Ää	[a़]	gääk	wing
ВЪ	[b]	buəl	hare
Сс	[c]	cil	rhino
D d	[d]	del	goat
Dh dh	[d̪]	dhol	boy
E e	[e]	yeeth	money
Ëë	[e]	bëël	sorghum
3 3	$[\epsilon]$	keet	walking stick
ËË	[<u>e</u>]	këët	falcon
G g	[g]	gat	child
Υγ	[h]	γöt	hut
Ιi	[i]	dit	bird
Ϊï	[<u>i</u>]	jïc	ear
Јj	[]]	jök	dog
K k	[k]	kəm	stool
L1	[1]	luok	mouse
M m	[m]	mök	buffalo
Nn	[n]	nok	feather
Nh nh	[n̈]	nhïër	turtle
Ny ny	[ɲ]	nyaŋ	crocodile
Ŋŋ	$[\mathfrak{y}]$	ŋät	oil
O o	[o]	gok	quiver
Öö	[ö]	pör	road
် ၁	[၁]	loc	heart
Öΰ	[5]	dök	river
Pр	[p]	pai	moon
Rr	[t]	rel	fox
T t	[t]	tëër	chicken
Th th	[t̪]	thïëŋ	gazelle
U u	[u]	guu	bee
W w	[w]	wut	ostrich
Yу	[y]	yaŋ	cow

The Reel word list at the end of this book has the same order as the list above.

Exercise 1

Write each of the words in the list above next to the letters below. Say each word as you write them. Listen to the sound each letter makes.

a	 Y	 0	
ä	 i	 ö	
b	 ï	 э	
c	 j	 ö	
d	 k	 p	
dh	 1	 r	
e	 m	 t	
ë	 n	 th	
ε	 nh	 u	
Ë	 ny	 W	
g	 ŋ	 y	

Syllables

Now we learn how Reel letters are joined together in words. Words can be divided into <u>syllables</u>, or beats. Each of the words below has *three* syllables. They can be divided into three separate beats as shown.

Three-syllable words								
palata	pa la ta	fish hook, line						
nyemïrï	nye mï rï	bean						
dëbeelë	dë bee lë	eagles (pl)						
akaja	a ka ja	donkey						
agurböök	a gur book	onion						
alualuaal	a lua luaal	dawn						
anyïnyï	a nyï nyï	hyena						
atëltöu	a tël töu	ladle, cup						
akäälë	a kää lë	calves (pl)						

Each of the words below have *two* syllables. They can be divided into two separate beats as shown.

Two-syllable	words	1
kuluk	ku luk	upper arm
mekec	me kec	yellow
dëbël	dë bël	eagle
böwë	bö wë	herds (pl)
dïërë	dïë rë	pigs (pl)
peweer	pe weer	famine
kärääth	kä rääth	maize
bapieny	ba pieny	morning
kuŋgu	kuŋ gu	parrot, bird type
dërceŋ	dër ceŋ	village
tompiny	tom piny	groundnut
yäkyäk	yäk yäk	lung
dhiamdhiam	dhiam dhiam	spring
akäl	a käl	calf
abaar	a baar	orphan
aduany	a duany	crippled person
ïtïëëp	ï tïëëp	shade, shadow
ïruum	ï ruum	tomorrow

Each of the words below have *one* syllable. They cannot be divided into more than one beat.

One-syl	lable words
mun	dirt, soil
cëk	wife
cëŋ	sun, day
cil	rhino
bëël	grain, sorghum
maar	relative by blood
tuaany	sickness
cuër	thief
guëc	giraffe
kuoth	rain
dïëër	pig
jieer	shoulder blade
kau	bride
lou	bamboo
kääu	pit, hole
käï	first born child
löï	umbilical cord
cuii	soup

Exercise 2

Say each word below and listen to the number of beats in each word. Write the number of syllables (1, 2, or 3) in the blank __ to the left of each word. Then divide the word into syllables in the blanks to the right of each word. Write one syllable on each blank. Do not fill more blanks than the number of syllables. The first one has been done as an example.

number	r of syllables	divided	into sylla	bles	
2	balthuur	<u>bal</u>	thuur		monitor lizard
	muərkaba				bag
	bedëk				eight
	mök				buffalo
	raaljioou				rainbow
	cöwë				termites (pl)
	mïëëth				food, crop, resource
	Alaathbuor				July
	thuok				mouth, language
	amëmïëër				dusk, twilight
	guänjäär				bush dweller
	gääk				wing
	ກວັວກຸວັວກຸ				poorly
	näädö				perhaps
	cïëëŋ				home, land
	pälŋëc				initiation (for boy)
	dëkerë				hot season (pl)
	acaar				fish

Consonants

Some letters are consonants and some letters are vowels. In the word **peweer** 'famine', the letters p, w and r are <u>consonants</u> and e and e are <u>vowels</u>.

Consonants often begin syllables and end syllables. Vowels are in the middle of syllables and sometimes end syllables, or are the only sound of the syllable. In the syllable pe of $pew\ddot{e}\ddot{e}r$, the consonant p begins the syllable, and the vowel e ends the syllable. In the syllable e is in the consonant e begins the syllable, the consonant e ends the syllable, and the vowel e is in the middle of the syllable.

In some words such as **ayak** 'lion', the first vowel **a** is a syllable by itself. A vowel can be a syllable by itself, but a consonant cannot be a syllable by itself.

The following 20 letters are Reel consonants:

Reel cor	<u>isonants</u>		
Вb	γγ	Νn	Rr
Сс	Jј	Nh nh	T t
D d	Κk	Ny ny	Th th
Dh dh	L1	Ŋŋ	$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{w}$
Gg	M m	Рp	Yу

The following 13 letters are Reel vowels:

A a	Ее	ε3	Ιi	Оо	၃ ၁	Uи
Ää	Ëë	ËË	Ϊï	Öö	Öΰ	

In this lesson, we learn about Reel consonants. In a later lesson, we learn about Reel vowels.

The list below has Reel words with each of the consonants. All consonants can be at the *beginning* of words. All except **nh** are found in the *middle* of words. Many consonants can be at the *end* of words. But, the consonants **b**, **d**, **dh**, **g**, **y**, **j**, **w** and **y** cannot.

	Word b	eginning	Word middle		Word end	
Вb	b ïäth	pumpkin	dë b ël	eagle		
	b aac	calf (of leg)	a b aaŋ	space, spot		
Сс	c ël	elbow	a c aar	fish	baa c	calf (of leg)
	cak	milk	a c ak	flea, tick	tïc	feast
D d	d ïëër	pig	a d aŋ	weapon		
	d ëŋeer	monkey	a d uany	crippled person		
Dh dh	dh öök	leopard skin	a dh aar	pot		
	dh əl	boy	a dh uur	hammer		
G g	g eer	fence	a g äk	game		
	g at	child	a g ook	monkey		
γγ	γäl	arm	bia y ë	of lights		
	y aar	plank of wood				
Jј	jic	stomach	a j aar	water basin		
	j eth	scorpion	a j aac	bird glue		

Κk	k ër	fishing net	dë k ër	hot season	dä k	river
	k ääu	pit, hole	a k äl	calf	no k	feather
L1	liet	sand	kuluk	upper arm	bul	drum
	lëï	tooth	a l ath	cloth	thöl	snake
M m	m ïëth	food (general)	nye m ïrï	bean	thuöö m	ghost, spirit
	mac	fire	a m ëël	sheep	nhïë m	fur, hair
Nn	n ëër	maternal uncle	wë n ë	here	pe n	town
	n op	message	dë n ëmε	their	mu n	dirt, soil
Nh nh	nh iem	charcoal			rëë nh	until
	nh iaal	sky				
Ny ny	ny al	girl	a ny aŋ	chisel tool	puö ny	body
	ny ïëu	co-wife	a ny ïnyï	hyena	thu ny	nasal mucus
Ŋŋ	ŋ är	bean	a ŋ ɛth	broth	tuoŋ	egg
	ŋ öp	fig	a ŋ au	cat	ka ŋ	alcohol
Pр	p iny	ground, land	a p aal	knife	lip	tongue
	p ëm	rock, mountain	ba p ieny	morning	rio p	claw, fingernail
Rr	r in	name	ka r a	ladder	pö r	road, path
	r ëët	razor	kä r ääth	maize	bu r	camp
T t	t ei	stick	ateel	leg	dit	bird (general)
	t ap	tobacco	ïtïëëp	shade, shadow	dut	grass
Th th	th iïn	breast	a th ak	back of head	nyi th	brain
	th uok	mouth	a th ëën	yesterday	ruë th	chief
$\mathbf{W} \mathbf{w}$	wëër	night	pe w eer	famine		
	waŋ	eye	awaŋ	tobacco		
Yу	y ïël	forest	a y ak	lion		
	y uïc	head	a y ääŋ	wrestling		

Exercise 3

In each word below, circle each consonant. The first one has been done as an example.

j ë p axe

Consonants t and th

The consonants \mathbf{t} and \mathbf{th} sound similar at the beginning of words. When we listen carefully, we hear the sound of \mathbf{t} in $\underline{\mathbf{teu}}$ 'life' is different than the sound of \mathbf{th} in $\underline{\mathbf{theu}}$ 'menstrual period'. Say each of the words below. Listen carefully to the difference in sound between \mathbf{t} and \mathbf{th} .

T t		Th th	
teu	life	th eu	menstrual period
t ap	tobacco	th ar	waist
t äp	ground sloping down	th ääŋ	side (of body)
t uŋ	horn (of animal)	th uny	nasal mucus
tuol	smoke	th uok	mouth
t uööl	initiation (of girl)	th uööm	ghost, spirit
t ök	laugh	th öl	wall
t ieer	clitoris	th ieei	stick, club of ebony
t iït	mahogany tree	th iin	breast
t ïët	magician	th ïäk	neighbour
tik	bead	th öl	snake
t iɛl	iron	th ëc	dew
tïc	feast	th ëk	bull with twisted horns
t ïk	chin		
t eet	hand		
t ëër	chicken		
t ur	dust		
t uut	bull		
t ueŋ	dark spot in wood		
t uaany	sickness		
tuoŋ	egg		

The letters **t** and **th** can also be inbetween vowels. When we listen carefully, we hear the sound of **t** in **a<u>th</u>ak** 'twisted thing' is different than the sound of **th** in **a<u>th</u>ak** 'back of head'. Listen carefully to the difference in sound between **t** and **th** in the words below.

t		th	
a t ak	twisted thing	a th ak	back of head
a t eel	leg	a th ëën	yesterday
a t äc	spice (general)		
ater	conflict, hatred		
a t ël	bowl from calabash		
ïtïëëp	shade, shadow		

The letters \mathbf{t} and \mathbf{th} can also be at the end of words. When we listen carefully, we hear the sound of \mathbf{t} in $\mathbf{m}\mathbf{a}\mathbf{t}$ 'agreement' is different than the sound of \mathbf{th} in $\mathbf{m}\mathbf{a}\mathbf{t}\mathbf{b}$ 'drink'. Listen carefully to the difference in sound between \mathbf{t} and \mathbf{th} in the words below.

t		th	
mä t	agreement	mä th	drink
ga t	child	ja th	tree
wat	blood relative	ka th	waterhole
γöt	hut, room	ŋää th	hope
ŋä t	oil	kärää th	maize
buöt	wound, sore	puä th	marriage
mu t	spear type	lu th	mud fish
lie t	sand	miee th	root
tïë t	magician	mïë th	food (general)
nyet	rib	je th	scorpion
teet	hand	yee th	money
kee t	walking stick	gee th	brightness
cët	colour	wë th	buttock
këë t	falcon, hawk	mëë th	friend
thot	wooden peg	do th	virgin
mu t	spear type	lu th	mud fish
rëë t	razor	muu th	darkness
tii t	mahogany tree	kuo th	rain
ri t	ebony tree	co th	guinea worm
yie t	finger, toe	rö th	armpit
		ya th	charm (for magic)
		rua th	young male cow
		kuä th	bone marrow
		ke th	bile, gall
		cë th	excrement, feces
		luö th	fetus

Exercise 4

Carefully read and say each test word below. The **bold** letter of each test word may or may not be written correctly. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test W	ord	Write correctly	Test Wo	rd	Write correctly
t eem	trying, testing	<u>theem</u>	tuoom	harp instrument	
t iar	flour		th εi	stick	
th uɛŋ	dark spot in wood		th ot	wooden peg	
a th ëën	yesterday		a t ak	back of head	
a th er	conflict, hatred		ï t ïëëp	shade, shadow	
jïëë th	mark (on ground)		wut	ostrich	

ruë t	chief	 bïää t	pumpkin	
kö th	shield	 nyuöö th	point (of something)	

Consonants d and dh

The consonants **d** and **dh** sound similar at the beginning of words. When we listen carefully, we hear the sound of **d** in **dom** 'catch something in the air' is different than the sound of **dh** in **dhom** 'stalk something'. Say each of the words below. Listen carefully to the difference in sound between **d** and **dh**.

D d		Dh dh	
d om	catch something (in air)	dh om	stalk something
d ak	make someone tired	dh al	fail something
ďä	thing	dh äl	violate, cross something
d öth	uproot something	dh ööl	cut something
d ət	vagina	dh ol	boy
d iaal	all	dh iac	bruise
d ör	tribe	dh öök	leopard skin
d ïëër	pig	dh ïëëc	five
d oth	virgin		
d äk	river		
d it	bird (general)		
d el	goat		
d ap	lazy person		
d ut	grass		

The letters \mathbf{d} and \mathbf{dh} can also be inbetween vowels. When we listen carefully, we hear the sound of \mathbf{d} in \mathbf{adaq} 'weapon' is different than the sound of \mathbf{dh} in \mathbf{adhaar} 'pot'. Listen carefully to the difference in sound between \mathbf{d} and \mathbf{dh} in the words below.

d		dh	
a d aŋ	weapon	a dh aar	pot
a d uany	crippled person	a dh uur	hammer
a d ëër	behaviour		
a d öl	brown		

Exercise 5

Carefully read and say each test word below. The **bold** letter of each test word may or may not be written correctly. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test Word	Write correctly	Test Word	Write correctly
dh iaal <i>all</i>	<u>diaal</u>	a d iəəŋu <i>what</i>	

d ïëëc	five	 dh el	goat	
d ör	tribe	 be dh ëk	eight	
a d uur	hammer	 dh al	fail something	

Consonants at the end of words

The consonants p, th, t, c, k can be at the beginning, middle and end of words. The consonants b, dh, d, j, g can be at the beginning and middle of words, but never at the end of words.

	Word b	eginning	Word mi	iddle	Word	end
Pр	p iny	ground, land	a p aal	knife	li p	tongue
	p ëm	roc, mountain	ba p ieny	morning	rio p	claw, fingernail
Th th	th iïn	breast	a th ak	back of head	nyi th	brain
	th uok	mouth	a th ëën	yesterday	ruë th	chief
T t	t ei	stick	ateel	leg	dit	bird (general)
	t ap	tobacco	ïtïëëp	shade, shadow	dut	grass
Сс	c ël	elbow	acaar	fish	baac	calf (of leg)
	cak	milk	acak	flea, tick	tïc	feast
K k	k ër	fishing net	dë k ër	hot season	dä k	river
	k ääu	pit, hole	a k äl	calf	no k	feather
Вb	b ïäth	pumpkin	dë b ël	eagle	<u>-</u>	_
	b aac	calf (of leg)	a b aaŋ	space, spot		
Dh dh	dh öök	leopard skin	a dh aar	pot	<u>-</u>	
	dh əl	boy	a dh uur	hammer		
D d	d ïëër	pig	a d aŋ	weapon		
	d ëŋeer	monkey	a d uany	crippled person		
Jј	jic	stomach	ajaar	water basin	<u>-</u>	
	jeth	scorpion	ajaac	bird glue		
Gg	g eer	fence	a g äk	game		
	g at	child	a g ook	monkey		

So, we have the following spelling rule for these consonants at the end of words.

Spelling Rule 1a: At the end of words, write p, th, t, c, k instead of b, dh, d, j, g.

	Correct	Wrong	
p	li p	li b	tongue
th	wë th	wë dh	buttock
t	teet	teed	hand
c	baac	baaj	calf (of leg)
k	roo k	roog	molar tooth

Sometimes the letter -ë is added to the end of a noun to make more than one of that noun. This

is called a <u>plural</u>. One of the noun **dap** 'lazy person' (called a <u>singular</u>) becomes plural when the letter — is added, as in **dape** 'lazy persons'. The sound of the letter **p** changes when — is added. However, we write the letter **p** in both the singular and plural (**dap** 'lazy person', **dape** 'lazy persons'). If we wrote a different letter than **p** in the plural (such as **dabe** 'lazy persons'—wrong), readers might think it is a different word. Instead, we write the letter **p** in both **dap** 'lazy person and **dape** 'lazy persons' so that readers know it is the same word. We also write the letters **th**, **t**, **c**, **k** when the letter — is added to plural nouns.

	Singular noun		Plural noun		
p	da p	lazy person	da p ë	lazy persons	
th	mëë th	friend	mëë th ë	friends	
t	rëë t	razor	rëë t ë	razors	
С	rï c	rafter	riï c ë	rafters	
\mathbf{k}	dhöö k	leopard skin	dhöö k ë	leopard skins	

	Common noun		Noun possessing another noun		
p	tä p	pot hole	wään të p ë	place of pot hole	
th	puä th	marriage	wään pu th ë	place of marriage	
t	yie t	finger	wään yi t ë	place of finger	
c	thieec	request	wään thïëë c ë	place of request	
k	kaa k	field	wään kaa k ë	place of field	

We have the following spelling rule for these consonants when the letter –**ë** is added.

Spelling Rule 1b: When the suffix $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added to the end of words, write \mathbf{p} , \mathbf{th} , \mathbf{t} , \mathbf{c} , \mathbf{k} instead of \mathbf{b} , \mathbf{dh} , \mathbf{d} , \mathbf{j} , \mathbf{g} .

	Correct		Correct	Wrong	
p	da p	lazy person	da p ë	da b ë	lazy persons
th	mëë th	friend	mëë th ë	mëë dh ë	friends
t	rëë t	razor	rëë t ë	rëë d ë	razors
c	rï c	rafter	rïï c ë	rii j ë	rafters
\mathbf{k}	dhöö k	leopard skin	dhöö k ë	dhöögë	leopard skins

	Correct		Correct	Wrong	
p	tä p	pot hole	wään të p ë	wään të b ë	place of pot hole
th	puä th	marriage	wään pu th ë	wään pu dh ë	place of marriage
t	yie t	finger	wään yi t ë	wään yi d ë	place of finger

c	thieec	request	wään thiëë c ë	wään thïëë j ë	place of request
\mathbf{k}	kaa k	field	wään kaa k ë	wään kaa g ë	place of field

All the consonants **p**, **th**, **t**, **c**, **k** and **b**, **dh**, **d**, **j**, **g** can be in other places of words, such as at the beginning or inbetween vowels. So, we also have the following spelling rule.

Spelling Rule 1c: p, th, t, c, k and b, dh, d, j, g can all be at the beginning of words and between vowels in other positions of words.

	Correct		Correct	
p, b	p an	swamp area	b an	bedbug
th, dh	th öl	wall	dh öök	leopard skin
t, d	t ap	tobacco	d ap	lazy person
c, j	cou	husband	j ou	chest
k, g	k aak	field, garden	g aak	jaw

	Correct		Correct	
p, b	a p aal	knife	a b aar	orphan
th, dh	a th ak	pot	a dh aar	pot
t, d	a t ak	something twisted	a d aŋ	gun, bow
c, j	a c aar	fish	a j aar	basin
k, g	a k äl	calf	a g äk	game

Exercise 6

Carefully read and say each test word below. The **bold** letter of each test word may or may not be written correctly. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test W	ord	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
no b	message	nop	keeth	cow urine	
d o dh ë	virgins	- -	wään b u d ë	place of wound	
dh əl	boy		cath	tree, firewood	
g a d	child	- -	yuï j	head	
wa j ë	aunts		a d uany	crippled person	
a k ä k	game	- -	dh öö g ë	leopard skins	
tök	river		wään tə p ë	place of tobacco	

Breathy and non-breathy vowels

The words **keet** 'walking stick' and **këët** 'falcon, hawk' have different vowel sounds. Do you hear the difference? There is more air in the vowel sound of **këët** 'falcon, hawk'. This vowel **ëë** in **këët** 'falcon, hawk' with more air is called a <u>breathy vowel</u>. All vowels that are not breathy are called non-breathy.

Vowel differences

non-breathy vowel	keet	walking stick	breathy vowel	këët	falcon, hawk
short vowel	gak	peel, skin (of fruit)	long vowe	gaak	jaw
High tone	wëër	night	Low tone	wëër	dung

The words **gak** 'peel, skin (of fruit)' and **gaak** 'jaw' also have different vowel sounds. Do you hear the difference? The vowel in **gaak** 'jaw' takes longer to say than the vowel in **gak** 'peel, skin'. The vowel in **gaak** 'jaw' is a <u>long vowel</u> and the vowel in **gak** 'peel, skin' is a <u>short</u> vowel.

The words **wëër** 'night' and **wëër** 'dung' also have a difference in sound. However, these words have the same vowel and only a difference in the <u>tone</u>. Tone is how high or low the sound of the vowel is. The word **wëër** 'night' has High tone and the word **wëër** 'dung' has Low tone.

In this lesson we learn the different sounds of vowels, especially the difference between breathy and non-breathy vowels. In the next lessons we learn about the difference between long and short vowels and words that only differ by tone.

There are 13 vowels in Reel, as shown in the list below. All can be breathy or non-breathy except for **u**, which can only be non-breathy. We write breathy vowels with dots above the vowel. All vowels can be short or long. We write long vowels with doubled vowel letters.

	Non-bro	eathy vowels		Breathy	vowels
a	d a ŋ	elder	ä	ŋ ä t	oil
aa	kaak	field, garden	ää	ŋ ää th	illness
e	j e th	scorpion	ë	j ë p	axe
ee	yeeth	money	ëë	t ëë r	chicken
ε	kεth	rusting	Ë	γ ë m	thigh
33	g ee r	fence	ËË	m ëë th	friend
i	l i p	tongue	ï	j ï c	ear
ii	diit	birds (pl)	ïï	r ii ŋ	meat
0	doth	virgin	ö	j ö k	dog
00	nooŋ	wedding	öö	dhöök	leopard skin
Э	γ ɔ r	swamp area	ö	ŋ ö p	fig
၁၁	kəər	forearm	öö	thööl	snakes (pl)
u	dut	grass			
uu	muuth	darkness			

The following words have the vowel **a** or **ä**. Say each of these words and listen to the sound of the vowels **a** and **ä**.

a			ä		
tap	tobacco	täp	pot hole		

gak jath	peel, skin (of fruit) tree, firewood	cäny ŋär	heel (of foot) bean
nyaŋ	crocodile	jäl	guest, visitor
pap	open land	mät	meeting, agreement
ban	bedbug	γäc	load, burden
bak	crack	läŋ	prayer
yaŋ	cow	mäth	drink
waŋ	face, eye	läk	dream, prophecy
waŋ	stream	Jäŋ	dinka person
kaŋ	alcohol	ŋät	oil
nyal	girl, daughter	käk	phlegm, throat mucus
par	open water, lake	jär	belch, burp
gak	peel, skin (of fruit)	täth	mould, forge
wac	aunt, father's sister	kär	branches
thal	early or late sun		
jak	pelican, bird type		
ŋak	pus		
kath	waterhole		
wat	relative (blood relative or in-law)		
daŋ	elder, older person		
dap	lazy person		
dap	birth		
yak	famine, drought, dry period		
pan	swamp area		
gat	son, child, baby		
mac	fire		
bany	wealth		
gal	newly cultivated ground		
thar	waist		
kam	middle of something		
nyan	caterpillar		

The following words have the vowel aa or $\ddot{a}\ddot{a}$.

aa		ää	
gaak	jaws	gääk	wing
yaar	plank of wood	gäär	scars on forehead
daan	palate, top of mouth	ŋääth	illness
kaak	field, garden	wään	way, place, method
baac	calf (of leg)	rääl	muscle
maar	relative by blood	määl	wealth
kaar	background information	jääl	trip, journey, movement
		thääŋ	side of body, other side
		kääŋ	proverb
		ŋääth	hope

The following words have the vowel ${\bf e}$ or $\ddot{\bf e}$. Say each of these words and listen to the sound of the vowels ${\bf e}$ and $\ddot{\bf e}$.

е		ë	
rek	pen (of cows)	lëk	word, speaking
mer	tear (of eye)	gëm	cheek
pen	town	gër	back (of body or something)
dep	trap	mël	oath, promise
rel	termite mound	yër	river, lake
del	goat	cëk	wife
jeth	scorpion	cër	bright star, morning star
rel	fox	cël	elbow
nyet	rib	lël	net for carrying container
ceŋ	strap	jëp	axe
		dëbël	eagle
		dëkër	hot season

The following words have the vowel ee or ëë.

ee		ëë	
teer	playing	tëër	chicken
keeth	cow urine	bëël	sorghum, dura
teet	hand	lëëth	begging
weer	blessing	rëët	razor
ceer	morning star	mëëk	kindness
neer	wrapping		
yeeth	money		
teeŋ	music, beating of drum		

The following words have the vowel ϵ or $\ddot{\epsilon}.$

ε		ε	
пєр	burn something	nëk	kill, murder someone
kεŋ	groan (with pain)	kën	give
keth	bile, gall, rusting	cëth	excrement, feces
pεn	towns (pl)	pëm	rock, mountain
_		γëm	thigh
		thëk	bull with twisted horns
		dër	centre, middle
		wëth	buttock
		kër	net for fishing
		lëc	semen
		këny	debt
		cët	colour (general)
		cël	fish type
		thëc	dew

cëŋ *day* wët *belief*

The following words have the vowel $\epsilon\epsilon$ or $\ddot{\epsilon}\ddot{\epsilon}$.

33		ëë	
keet	walking stick	këët	falcon, hawk
geer	fence	wëër	night
geeth	brightness	wëër	dung
theem	trying, testing	nëër	maternal uncle
		gëëm	midwife
		mëëth	friend
		wëël	herbs, medicine, drugs

The following words have the vowel \boldsymbol{e} or $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}.$

e		ε	
nep	light, ignite something	пєр	burn something
ket	<i>swim</i>	keŋ	groan (with pain)
rek	pen (of cows)	keth	bile, gall, rusting
pen	town	pen	towns (pl)
mer	tear (of eye)		
dep	trap		
rel	termite mound		
del	goat		
jeth	scorpion		
rel	fox		
nyet	rib		
ceŋ	strap		

The following words have the vowel ee or $\epsilon\epsilon$.

ee		33	
teer	playing	keet	walking stick
keeth	cow urine	geer	fence
teet	hand	geeth	brightness
weer	blessing	theem	trying, testing
ceer	morning star		
neer	wrapping		
yeeth	money		
teeŋ	music, beating of drum		

The following words have the vowel \ddot{e} or $\ddot{\epsilon}.$

ë		Ë	
cël	elbow	cël	fish type

gëm	cheek	cëŋ	day
gër	back (of body or something)	cëth	excrement, feces
mël	oath, promise	pëm	rock, mountain
yër	river, lake	γëm	thigh
cëk	wife	thëk	bull with twisted horns
cër	bright star, morning star	dër	centre, middle
lël	net for carrying container	wëth	buttock
jëp	axe	kër	net for fishing
lëk	word, speaking	lëc	semen
dëbël	eagle	këny	debt
dëkër	hot season	cët	colour (general)
		thëc	dew
		wët	belief

The following words have the vowel $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ or $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$.

ëë		ëë	
tëër	chicken	wëër	night
bëël	sorghum, dura	wëër	dung
lëëth	begging	këët	falcon, hawk
rëët	razor	nëër	maternal uncle
mëëk	kindness	gëëm	midwife
		mëëth	friend
		wëël	herbs, medicine, drugs

The following words have the vowel i or \ddot{i} .

i		ï	
dir	cricket insect	dïr	bump (in ground)
jic	stomach	jïc	leaf, ear
dit	song	tïc	feast
dit	bird	tïk	cloudy day
cil	rhino	tïk	chin
piny	ground, land	pï	water
rit	ebony tree	rïc	beam, rafter
lip	tongue		
cir	sea, wide river		
nyith	brain		

The following words have the vowel ii or ii.

ii		ïï	
tiil	rings, irons (pl)		breast
diit	birds (pl)	rii̇̃iŋ	meat
		lïïm	messenger
		tïït	mahogany tree

tiit	understand s.m.	pïïk	push something
tiiŋ	hit something		
riiŋ	run something		
liip	wait for something		
ciim	kiss someone		
niin	sleep something		
ciir	discuss something		
jiit	mark something		
ciil	slice something		
biir	spear (v.in)	tiïc	be tight
liiŋ	hear, listen	dïït	be big (in size)
		lïïŋ	sink
		ciïm	beat

The following words have the vowel \boldsymbol{o} or $\ddot{\boldsymbol{o}}$.

0		ö	
kok	bribe	kök	hole in log
nop	message	pör	road, path
lol	valley	thöl	wall
kom	bark (of tree), shell (of groundnut)	dör	tribe
gok	quiver, bag of arrows	köt	shield
yoŋ	opening, hole	γöt	hut, room
doth	virgin	mök	buffalo
thot	wooden peg	tök	laugh
		jök	dog
		kök	migration
		röl	voice
		böm	hump (of cow)
		böl	flame
		kör	fighting, arguing

The following words have the vowel **oo** or **öö**.

00		öö	
door	peace	böör	full moon
goon	hospitality for guests	lööŋ	tool of witchdoctor
nooŋ	wedding	cöör	blindness
rook	molar tooth	dhöök	leopard skin
		lööŋ	rule

The following words have the vowel $\mathfrak s$ or $\ddot{\mathfrak s}$.

၁		ö
nok	feather	dök <i>river</i>
dəm	defending	ŋöp <i>fig</i>

jok	back (of something)	γäl	arm
jok	magic, god	γäk	peg, stake
kəm	stool, chair	röth	armpit
dhol	boy	thöl	snake
loc	heart	jör	forest
gəl	brye, corral, pen	dö	thing
dət	vagina		_
yor	swamp area		

The following words have the vowel 33 or 33.

၁၁		öö	
cool	call, invite someone	gööl	boast, brag something
уээс	buy something	tööŋ	advise someone
lccγ	cough something	lööŋ	rest something
coor	make someone blind	kööm	beat, thresh something
jook	begin something	ŋööŋ	oppress someone
kooc	sew something		
cool	announce	köör	spread out
gool	be new	γööl	hit, strike
tooŋ	jump		
doom	catch (in air)		
nooŋ	take away		
joom	wind		
kəər	forearm		

The following words have the vowel \mathbf{o} or \mathbf{o} .

o		၁	
kom	bark (of tree), shell (of groundut)	kəm	stool, chair
kok	bribe	nok	feather
nop	message	dəm	defending
lol	valley	jok	back (of something)
gok	quiver, bag of arrows	jok	magic, god
yoŋ	opening, hole	dhəl	boy
doth	virgin	loc	heart
thot	wooden peg	gol	brye, corral, pen
		dot	vagina
		γor	swamp area

The following words have the vowel \mathbf{oo} or \mathbf{oo} .

00		၁၁	
book	offer something	jook	begin something
nooŋ	bring something	cool	call, invite someone
noop	send something	уээс	buy something

gool	be around	gool	be new
door	mediate, intercede	cool	announce
jook	begin	tooŋ	jump
koot	dry	doom	catch (in air)
root	cry	nooŋ	take away
gooŋ	hospitality for guests	joom	wind
door	peace	kəər	forearm

The following words have the vowel \ddot{o} or \ddot{o} .

ö		ö	
thöl	wall	thöl	snake
kök	hole in log	dök	river
pör	road, path	ŋöp	fig
dör	tribe	γäk	peg, stake
köt	shield	röth	armpit
γöt	hut, room	γäl	arm
mök	buffalo	jör	forest
tök	laugh	dö	thing
jök	dog		
kök	migration		
röl	voice		
böm	hump (of cow)		
böl	flame		
kör	fighting, arguing		

The following words have the vowel öö or öö.

öö		öö		
gööl	surround something	gööl	boast, brag something	
göör	want, desire something	tööŋ	advise someone	
kööt	dry something	ໄວ້ວ່າງ	rest something	
lööm	borrow, take something	kööm	beat, thresh something	
		ŋööŋ	oppress someone	_
döör	mediate, intercede	köör	spread out	_
döön	dry	γööl	hit, strike	

The following words have the vowel **u** or o.

u		o	
bul	drum, dance	lol	valley
thuny	nasal mucus	nop	message
tuŋ	branch (of tree)	kom	bark (of tree), shell (of groundut)
tuŋ	horn (of animal)	gok	quiver, bag of arrows
pul	pool	yoŋ	opening, hole
mun	dirt, soil	doth	virgin

tut	male	thot	wooden peg
luk	court case	kok	bribe
dut	grass		
wum	nose		
mut	spear type		
wut	ostrich		
bur	camp		
tur	dust		
cul	penis		
rum	club, stick		
dul	bundle		
luth	mud fish		

The following words have the vowel **uu** or **oo**.

uu		00	
duur	eloping	door	peace
tuut	bull	goon	hospitality for guests
luum	gossiper	nooŋ	wedding
muuth	darkness	rook	molar tooth
ruu	knot, tying		
guu	bee		

Exercise 7

Carefully read and say the test words between the lines below. The **bold** vowel in the middle of each test word may or may <u>not</u> be written correctly. Test the sound of the bold vowel by comparing it with the vowel sound in the words on the left and right. If the sound for the bold vowel is the same as in the word on the left, write the word correctly with that vowel. If the sound for the bold vowel is the same as in the word on the right, write the word correctly with that vowel. The first one has been done as an example.

		Test W	/ord			Write correctly
daŋ	elder	m ä c	family	ŋät	oil	<u>mac</u>
daŋ	elder	m ä th	drink	ŋät	oil	
daŋ	elder	k a r	branches	ŋät	oil	
daŋ	elder	jal	guest, visitor	ŋät	oil	
kaak	field	kaaŋ	proverb	ŋääth	illness	
kaak	field	b ää c	calf (of leg)	ŋääth	illness	
kaak	field	m ää l	wealth	ŋääth	illness	
jeth	scorpion	c ë ŋ	strap	jëp	axe	
jeth	scorpion	c ë k	wife	jëp	axe	
jeth	scorpion	rel	termite mound	jëp	axe	
jeth	scorpion	g e m	cheek	jëp	axe	
yeeth	money	reet	razor	tëër	chicken	
yeeth	money	b ëë l	sorghum, dura	tëër	chicken	

keth rusting këny debt këny groan (with pain) yëm thigh keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend mëth scorpion ket swim keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence will money teet hand geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence jëp axe jër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend mëth birds till rings, irons (pl) riin meat till birds till rings, irons (pl) gik dog doth virgin bol flame jok magic, god njöp fig yor swamp yor avedding roop wedding goon hospitality koor forearm boon wedding roop wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding roop wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding roop wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding roop wedding goon hospitality koor forearm goon wedding goon goon wedding goon goor goor goor goor goor goon goon	yeeth	money	k ëe th	cow urine	tëër	chicken	
keth rusting thec dew yem thigh geer fence theem trying, testing meeth friend jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting jeth scorpion test malking stick geer fence jeth monopy test manni	keth	rusting	k ë ny	debt	γëm	thigh	
geer fence were dung meëth friend meëth scorpion ket swim keth rusting jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence jëp axe jëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe tëër chicken weër night mëëth friend mëtër chicken meëk kindness mëth friend mit birds thiin breast fiil rings, irons (pl) iök dog doth virgin loh wedding room message yer swamp doth virgin noh message yer swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm	keth	rusting	k ë ŋ	groan (with pain)	γëm	thigh	
geer fence weër dung meëth friend jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence jeth axe yeër river, lake yem thigh jëp axe lêc semen yem thigh jëp axe lêc semen yem thigh jëp axe lec elbow yem thigh jëp axe lec elbow yem thigh jëp axe lec felow yem thigh jëp axe lec elbow yem thigh jëp axe lec elbow yem thigh jëp axe lec semen yem thigh jëp axe lec semen yem thigh jëp axe lec elbow yem thigh jëp axe lec semen yem meat jic car jic car jic car jic car lip tongue tit chin jic car lip tongue jic stomach jij meat lith birds titi mahogany tree riin meat lith birds look dog look do	keth	rusting	thec	dew	γëm	thigh	
geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting jeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence jep axe jër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe jër rim thigh jëp axe jër rim thigh jëp <td>geer</td> <td>fence</td> <td>theem</td> <td>trying, testing</td> <td>mëëth</td> <td>friend</td> <td></td>	geer	fence	theem	trying, testing	mëëth	friend	
jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence jëp axe yër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen whigh mëëth friend mëëk kindness mëth friend mëëk kindness mëth friend mëth friend might tongue tit feast jic car lip tongue tit ebony tree jic car lip tongue tit stomach jic car lip tongue tit rings, irons (pl) riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin por road, path jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin maloga vire swamp yol arm noon wedding roen message yor swamp yol arm nop oppress someone thöil snakes hoos forearm loon message yor swamp doth virgin noh feather yor swamp doth virgin noh forearm hoon message yor swamp doth virgin noh sool, spill thou wedding roen message yor swamp doth virgin noh sool, spill thou wedding yoo buy something koor forearm noon wedding yoo buy something koor forearm moon wedding yoo buy something koor forearm loon wedding yoo buy something koor forearm	_	fence	w ëë r	dung	mëëth	friend	
jeth scorpion rel fox burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence jeth axe lêc semen yêm thigh jêp axe lêc semen yêm thigh jêp axe cël elbow yêm thigh jêp axe cël elbow yêm thigh jêp axe night mëth friend mëth friend meth friend friend meth friend meth friend friend meth friend friend meth friend friend meth friend friend friend friend meth friend f		scorpion	kεt	swim	keth	rusting	
jeth scorpion nep burn something jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting yeeth money keet walking stick geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence geer morning star geer fence jëp axe yër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe gëm midwife mëëth friend mëëth friend mëëth friend mëëth friend mëtër chicken mëëk kindness mëth friend lip tongue tic feast jïc ear lip tongue tik chin jïc ear lip tongue tik mahogany tree riïn meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog doth virgin köm moat roök molar tooth dhöök skin major pros swamp yol arm nöp fig makes libil snakes forearm köor forearm loon wedding room mong wind magic, god nöp fig sakes looth virgin nok feather yor swamp toth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin nok feather yor swamp how medding noon wedding noon mong wedding noon wind wirgin lot walley yor swamp yol arm nong swamp jök magic, god nöp fig sakes looth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin nok feather yor swamp looth wirgin nok feather yor swamp looth virgin nok feather yor swamp looth virgin now message yor swamp looth virgin hob looy wedding soon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	jeth	-	rel	fox	keth	_	
yeeth money teet hand geer fence yeeth money teet hand geer fence geer fence geer morning star geer fence jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh gëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh gëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëth friend mëth friend lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lili birds tiil rings, irons (pl) riin meat dith birds tiil mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin bol flame jök dog dog loth virgin bol flame jök dog loth oop wedding roor blindness dhöök skin moon wedding room wind major, coor forearm loon mook wedding loon moon forearm loon mook wedding room wind major, coor swamp yol arm noon swamp jok magic, god noon wind wirgin loot wind major, coor swamp to oppress someone thööl snakes loon wirgin noon wind wirgin loot wind major, coor swamp to oppress someone thööl snakes loon wirgin loot wirgin thot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin loot wirgin loot wind thööl snakes loon wind wirgin loon wedding coor swamp yol arm noon swamp yol arm spop oppress someone thööl snakes loon wind wirgin loot wirgin loot wind wind thööl snakes loon wind wind wirgin loon wedding loon wind wind thööl snakes loon wind wirgin loon wedding loon moon wedding loon wind thööl snakes loon forearm loon moon wedding loon wind thööl snakes loon forearm loon moon wedding loon moon wedding loon oon oon wedding loon oon wedding loon oon oon wedding loon oon oon oon oon oon wedding loon oon oon oon oon oon oon oon wedding loon oon oon oon oon oon oon oon oon oo	jeth	scorpion	n e p	burn something	keth	rusting	
yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence jëp axe yër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken gëëm midwife mëëth friend tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin mëth friend lip tongue tik tonin mëth friend lip tongue tik tonin mëth friend lip tongue tik tonin mëth fri	jeth	scorpion	p e n	towns (pl)	keth	rusting	
yeeth moncy ceer morning star geer fence jëp axe yër river, lake yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken gëëm midwife mëëth friend tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jïc ear lip tongue tik chin jïc ear lip tongue jïc stomach jïc ear lip tongue jïc stomach jïc ear diit birds tiïl rings, irons (pl) diit birds tiït mahogany tree riïn meat diit birds tiït mahogany tree riïn meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp yol arm nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig som pon message yor swamp doth virgin thot wooden peg noon wedding nop message yor swamp doth virgin thot wooden peg noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding goon busseling koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm	yeeth	money	keet	walking stick	geer	fence	
jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh lëër chicken gëëm midwife mëëth friend tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jïc ear lip tongue tik chin jïc ear lip tongue jïc stomach jïc meat diit birds tiïl rings, irons (pl) riïn meat diit birds tiïl mahogany tree riïn meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog lodh virgin bol flame jök dog lodh virgin swamp yöl arm nöp fig swamp yöl arm nöp fig swamp jök magic, god nöp fig swamp lodh virgin thot wooden peg yor swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig snakes lodh virgin hot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin thot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin noon message yor swamp doth virgin hot wooden pog yor swamp loon mossage yor swamp loon mossage yor swamp doth virgin hot wooden peg yor swamp loon message yor swamp doth virgin hot wooden peg yor swamp loon message yor swamp loon message yor swamp loon message yor swamp loon message yor swamp loon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding loon wood wedding loon wooden pog yor swamp loon wedding loon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding loon hospitality koor forearm loon wedding loon boy wooden pog yor swamp loon wedding loon boy wooden pog yor swamp loon wedding loon boy wooden pog loon forearm loon wedding loon loon wedding loon boy wooden pog loon forearm loon wedding loon	yeeth	money	teet	hand	geer	fence	
jëp axe lëc semen yëm thigh jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken wëër night mëëth friend tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear diit birds thiin breast riin meat diit birds tiil rings, irons (pl) riin meat diit birds tiil mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp jök magic, god nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non op message yor swamp doth virgin noop message yor swamp noon wedding noop message yor swamp noon wedding noop message yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp noon wedding noop message yor swamp noon wedding noop message yor swamp noon wedding noop message yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality	yeeth	money	ceer	morning star	geer	fence	
jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh yëm thigh tëër chicken wëër night mëëth friend tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jïc ear lip tongue tik chin jïc ear lip tongue tik chin jïc ear lip tongue jïc stomach jïc ear lim meat lim birds tiïl rings, irons (pl) riïn meat lim birds tiïl mahogany tree riïn meat lim birds tiïl mahogany tree riïn meat lim birds lim birds tiïl mahogany tree lip jök dog loth virgin bol flame jök dog loth virgin loth gibr molar tooth lip lip tong swamp köm stool, chair njöp fig loth swamp yol arm njöp fig loth swamp yol arm njöp fig loth swamp yol arm njöp fig loth swamp jök magic, god njöp fig loth swamp loth virgin loth thot wooden peg yor swamp loth virgin nok feather yor swamp loth virgin nop message yor swamp loth virgin nop message yor swamp loth virgin loth loby yor swamp loth virgin loth loth virgin loth loth virgin loth virgin loth loth virgin loth virgin loth virgin loth virgin loth virgin loth loth virgin loth virgin loth loth	jëp	axe	y ë r	river, lake	γëm	thigh	
jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh tëër chicken gëëm midwife mëëth friend tëër chicken wëër night mëëth friend liër chicken mëëtk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear diit birds tiïl riin meat diit birds tiïl riin		axe	lëc	semen	γëm	thigh	
tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jïc ear lip tongue rit ebony tree jïc ear lip tongue rit ebony tree jïc ear lip tongue rit ebony tree jïc ear lip tongue jïc stomach jïc meat diit birds tiïl rings, irons (pl) riïn meat diit birds tiït mahogany tree riïn meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest njöp fig yər swamp yəl arm njöp fig yər swamp jök magic, god njöp fig kəər forearm njən oppress someone kəər forearm jəəm wind thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding gəən hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding noon bus oby something kəər forearm noon wedding gəən hospitality kəər forearm	jëp	axe	cël	elbow	γëm	thigh	
tëër chicken mëëk kindness mëëth friend lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear diit birds thiin breast riin meat diit birds tiil rings, irons (pl) riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp jör forest nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm köör forearm doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin hol boy yor swamp doth virgin thot wooden peg noon wedding nok feather yor swamp doth virgin hol boy yor swamp doth virgin thot wooden peg noon wedding nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	tëër	chicken	g ëë m	midwife	mëëth	friend	
lip tongue tic feast jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue tik chin jic ear lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lip tongue lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lip tongue lip tongue jic stomach jic ear lip tongue lil	tëër	chicken	w ëë r	night	mëëth	friend	
lip tongue tik chin jiic ear lip tongue tik chin jiic ear lip tongue jic stomach jiic ear diit birds thiin breast riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp jör forest nöp fig yor swamp yol arm nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message doth virgin nop message doth virgin hol spitality hold thööl snakes koor forearm non meassage doth virgin nop message hoon wedding röon hospitality hold tongue jic ear jic ear jic ear jic ear jiic ear jiin meat doga dog dog dog dog dog dog do	tëër	chicken	m ëë k	kindness	mëëth	friend	
lip tongue tik chin jiic ear lip tongue tik chin jiic ear lip tongue jic stomach jiic ear diit birds thiin breast riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp jör forest nöp fig yor swamp yol arm nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message doth virgin nop message doth virgin hol spitality hold thööl snakes koor forearm non meassage doth virgin nop message hoon wedding röon hospitality hold tongue jic ear jic ear jic ear jic ear jiic ear jiin meat doga dog dog dog dog dog dog do	lip	tongue	tic	feast	jïc	ear	
lip tongue jic stomach jic ear diit birds thiin breast riin meat diit birds tiil rings, irons (pl) riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest ŋöp fig yər swamp yəl arm ŋöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god ŋöp fig kəər forearm ŋən oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality hor forearm noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality hor forearm noon wedding gən hospitality hor forearm noon wedding gən hospitality hor forearm	lip	tongue	r i t	ebony tree	jïc	ear	
lip tongue jïc stomach jïc ear diit birds thiïin breast riïin meat diit birds tiïil rings, irons (pl) riïin meat diit birds tiïit mahogany tree riïin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp yəl arm nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig kəər forearm nən oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding noon message yər swamp noon wedding gən hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding gən hospitality noon wedding yəsc buy something kəər forearm	lip	tongue	t ï k	chin	jïc	ear	
diit birds tiit rings, irons (pl) riin meat diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig kəər forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thot wooden peg doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nop message doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding goon hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding yooc buy something kəər forearm		tongue	j ï c	stomach	jïc	ear	
ditt birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin por road, path jök dog moon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yor swamp jör forest nöp fig yor swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes koor forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	diit	birds	th ii n	breast	rïiŋ	meat	
doth virgin lol valley jök dog doth virgin por road, path jök dog doth virgin bol flame jök dog moon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig magic sor forearm non wind thööl snakes kəbr forearm köör forearm thot wooden peg yər swamp doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding goon hospitality kəbr forearm moon wedding yooc buy something kəbr forearm moon wedding yooc buy something kəbr forearm moon wedding yooc buy something kəbr forearm	diit	birds	tïïl	rings, irons (pl)	rïïŋ	meat	
doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig kəər forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding goon hospitality kəər forearm loon wedding goon buy something kəər forearm	diit	birds	tiit	mahogany tree	rïïŋ	meat	
doth virgin bol flame jök dog noon wedding coor blindness dhöök skin noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest njöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair njöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god njöp fig kəər forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin nop message yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding goon hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding yooc buy something kəər forearm	doth	virgin	lol	valley	jök	dog	
noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yər swamp yol arm nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig kəər forearm nən oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin nəp message yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding gəən hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding yəəc buy something kəər forearm	doth	virgin	por	road, path	jök	dog	
noon wedding röök molar tooth dhöök skin yər swamp jör forest nöp fig yər swamp köm stool, chair nöp fig yər swamp yəl arm nöp fig yər swamp jok magic, god nöp fig kəər forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yər swamp doth virgin nop message doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp moon wedding goon hospitality noon wedding yooc buy something kəər forearm	doth	virgin	bol	flame	jök	dog	
yor swamp köm stool, chair ŋöp fig yor swamp yol arm ŋöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god ŋöp fig koor forearm ŋon oppress someone thööl snakes koor forearm joom wind thööl snakes koor forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	nooŋ	wedding	coor	blindness	dhöök	skin	
yorswampkömstool, chairŋöpfigyorswampyolarmŋöpfigyorswampjokmagic, godŋöpfigkoorforearmŋonoppress someonethöölsnakeskoorforearmköörforearmthöölsnakeskoorforearmköörforearmthöölsnakesdothvirginthotwooden pegyorswampdothvirginnokfeatheryorswampdothvirginnopmessageyorswampdothvirgindholboyyorswampnoonweddinggoonhospitalitykoorforearmnoonweddingyoocbuy somethingkoorforearm	nooŋ	wedding	r öö k	molar tooth	dhöök	skin	
yorswampkömstool, chairŋöpfigyorswampyolarmŋöpfigyorswampjokmagic, godŋöpfigkoorforearmŋonoppress someonethöölsnakeskoorforearmköörforearmthöölsnakeskoorforearmköörforearmthöölsnakesdothvirginthotwooden pegyorswampdothvirginnokfeatheryorswampdothvirginnopmessageyorswampdothvirgindholboyyorswampnoonweddinggoonhospitalitykoorforearmnoonweddingyoocbuy somethingkoorforearm	γor	swamp	j ö r	forest	ŋöp	fig	
yor swamp yol arm nöp fig yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes koor forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin noh feather yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yoc buy something koor forearm	γor	swamp	k ö m	stool, chair			
yor swamp jok magic, god nöp fig koor forearm non oppress someone thööl snakes koor forearm köör forearm thööl snakes koor forearm köör forearm doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	γor	swamp	lcγ	arm	ŋöp		
koor forearm joom wind thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp moon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	yər	swamp	j o k	magic, god	ŋöp		
kəər forearm köör forearm thööl snakes doth virgin thot wooden peg yər swamp doth virgin nəp message yər swamp doth virgin dhəl boy yər swamp noon wedding gəən hospitality kəər forearm noon wedding yəsc buy something kəər forearm	kəər	forearm	ກວກ	oppress someone	thööl		
doth virgin thot wooden peg yor swamp doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin nop message yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	kəər	forearm	j ɔɔ m	wind	thööl	snakes	
doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	kəər	forearm	köör	forearm	thööl	snakes	
doth virgin nok feather yor swamp doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	doth	virgin	thot	wooden peg	yor	swamp	
doth virgin dhol boy yor swamp noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	doth		n o k	feather	yor	swamp	
noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	doth	virgin	n o p	message	yor	swamp	
noon wedding goon hospitality koor forearm noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	doth	virgin	_	-	•	-	
noon wedding yooc buy something koor forearm	nooŋ	wedding	goon	hospitality	kəər	forearm	
	nooŋ	wedding		buy something	kəər	forearm	
11001j wedding door peace Kish 1016aini	nooŋ	wedding	door	peace	kəər	forearm	

				ı		
jök	dog	d ö r	tribe	ŋöp	fig	
jök	dog	r ö th	armpit	ŋöp	fig	
jök	dog	r ö l	voice	ŋöp	fig	
dhöök	skin	l öö m	borrow, take s.m.	thööl	snakes	
dhöök	skin	k öö m	beat, thresh s.m.	thööl	snakes	
dut	grass	g u k	quiver, bag	doth	virgin	
dut	grass	dol	bundle	doth	virgin	
muuth	darkness	tuut	bull	nooŋ	wedding	

Long and short vowels

The words **gak** 'peel, skin (of fruit)' and **gaak** 'jaw' have different vowel sounds. The vowel in **gaak** 'jaw' takes longer to say than the vowel in **gak** 'peel, skin'. The vowel in **gaak** 'jaw' is a <u>long vowel</u> and the vowel in **gak** 'peel, skin' is a <u>short vowel</u>.

Each of the 13 Reel vowels can be short or long. We write long vowels with doubled vowel letters.

	Short	vowels		Long v	owels
a	d a ŋ	elder	aa	kaak	field, garden
ä	ŋ ä t	oil	ää	ŋ ää th	illness
е	j e th	scorpion	ee	y ee th	money
ë	j ë p	axe	ëë	t ëë r	chicken
ε	kεth	rusting	33	g ee r	fence
Ë	γ ë m	thigh	ËË	m ëë th	friend
i	l i p	tongue	ii	d ii t	birds (pl)
ï	j ï c	ear	ïï	r ii ŋ	meat
0	doth	virgin	00	n oo ŋ	wedding
ö	j ö k	dog	öö	dh öö k	leopard skin
Э	γ ɔ r	swamp area	၁၁	kəər	forearm
ö	ŋ ö p	fig	öö	th öö l	snakes (pl)
u	dut	grass	uu	muuth	darkness

The following words have the vowel **a** or **aa**. Say each of these words and listen to the sound of the vowels **a** and **aa**.

a		aa	
gak	peel, skin (of fruit)	gaak	jaws
thar	waist	yaar	plank of wood
ban	bedbug	daan	palate, top of mouth
ŋak	pus	kaak	field, garden
mac		baac	calf (of leg)
nyal	girl, daughter		relative by blood
par	open water, lake	kaar	background information

The following words have the vowel **ä** or **ää**.

ä		ää	
jäl	guest, visitor	jääl	trip, journey, movement
käk	phlegm, throat mucus	gääk	wing
jär	belch, burp	gäär	scars on forehead
mäth	drink	ŋääth	illness
cäny	heel (of foot)	wään	way, place, method
ŋär	bean	rääl	muscle
kär	branches	määl	wealth
läŋ	prayer	kääŋ	proverb
Jäŋ	dinka person	thääŋ	side of body, other side
täth	mould, forge	ŋääth	hope

The following words have the vowel **e** or **ee**.

e		ee	
mer	tear (of eye)	neer	wrapping
dep	trap	keeth	cow urine
nyet	rib	teet	hand
rel	fox	teer	playing
rel	termite mound	ceer	morning star
del	goat	weer	blessing
jeth	scorpion	yeeth	money
ceŋ	strap	teeŋ	music, beating of drum

The following words have the vowel **ë** or **ëë**.

ë		ëë	
cër	bright star, morning star	tëër	chicken
mël	oath, promise	bëël	sorghum, dura
jëp	axe	lëëth	begging
lëk	word, speaking	rëët	razor
cëk	wife	mëëk	kindness

The following words have the vowel ϵ or $\epsilon\epsilon$.

ε		33	
keth	bile, gall, rusting	geeth	brightness
pen	towns (pl)	theem	trying, testing
пєр	burn something	рееп	fall
kεŋ	groan (with pain)		

The following words have the vowel $\ddot{\epsilon}$ or $\ddot{\epsilon}\ddot{\epsilon}$.

Ë		ËË	
cët	colour (general)	këët	falcon, hawk
dër	centre, middle	wëër	night
kër	net for fishing	wëër	dung
γëm	thigh	gëëm	midwife
wëth	buttock	mëëth	friend
cël	fish type	wëël	herbs, medicine, drugs
cëŋ	day	nëër	maternal uncle

The following words have the vowel i or ii.

i		ii	
cil	rhino	tiil	rings, irons (pl)
dit	bird	diit	birds (pl)
liŋ	hear something	riiŋ	run something
min	wink something	niin	sleep something
bir	spear something	ciir	discuss something
bil	lick something	ciil	slice something
riŋ	run	liiŋ	listen

The following words have the vowel $\ddot{\imath}$ or $\ddot{\imath}\ddot{\imath}$.

ï		ïï	
tïk	chin	tïït	mahogany tree
jïc	leaf, ear	lïïm	messenger
tïc	feast	riiŋ	meat
dïr	bump (in ground)	thiïn	breast
rïc	straighten, stretch something	pïïk	push something

The following words have the vowel \mathbf{o} or \mathbf{oo} .

0		00	
yoŋ	opening, hole	goon	hospitality for guests
kom	bark (of tree), shell (of groundut)	nooŋ	wedding
lol	valley	door	peace
gok	quiver, bag of arrows	rook	molar tooth

The following words have the vowel $\ddot{\boldsymbol{o}}$ or $\ddot{\boldsymbol{o}}\ddot{\boldsymbol{o}}.$

Ö		öö	
dör	tribe	böör	full moon
kök	migration	dhöök	leopard skin
böm	hump (of cow)	lööŋ	rule
böl	flame	lööŋ	tool of witchdoctor
kör	fighting, arguing	cöör	blindness

The following words have the vowel **3** or **33**.

o		၁၁	
dəm	catch something (in air)	cool	call, invite someone
loc	choose something	уээс	buy something
noŋ	take away something	γɔɔl	cough something
lək	winnow something	jook	begin something
kək	pay something	kəəc	sew something
lər	be empty	gool	be new
dəŋ	be old	nooŋ	take away
kəm	stool, chair	jɔɔm	wind
γər	swamp area	kəər	forearm

The following words have the vowel "o or "o".

Ö		öö	
kör	spread something out	kööm	beat, thresh something
ກຸວັກ	be poor	γööl	hit, strike

The following words have the vowel **u** or **uu**.

u		uu	
dut	grass	tuut	bull
tur	dust	duur	eloping
rum	club, stick	luum	gossiper
luth	mud fish	muuth	darkness

Exercise 8

Carefully read and say the test words between the lines below. The **bold** vowel in the middle of each test word may or may <u>not</u> be written correctly. Test the sound of the bold vowel by comparing it with the vowel sound in the words on the left and right. If the sound for the bold vowel is the same as in the word on the left, write the word correctly with that vowel. If the sound for the bold vowel is the same as in the word on the right, write the word correctly with that vowel. The first one has been done as an example.

		Test W	ford			Write correctly
daŋ	elder	γ a r	plank of wood	kaak	field	<u>yaar</u>
daŋ	elder	ny a l	girl, daughter	kaak	field	
daŋ	elder	ŋ aa k	pus	kaak	field	
ŋät	oil	m ää th	drink	ŋääth	illness	
ŋät	oil	r ä l	muscle	ŋääth	illness	
ŋät	oil	ŋ ä r	bean	ŋääth	illness	
ŋät	oil	g ä k	wing	ŋääth	illness	
jeth	scorpion	reel	fox	yeeth	money	

jeth	scorpion	teeŋ	music, beating	yeeth	money	
jeth	scorpion	ceer	morning star	yeeth	money	
jëp	axe	l ë k	word, speaking	tëër	chicken	
jëp	axe	r ë t	razor	tëër	chicken	
keth	rusting	р єє п	fall	geer	fence	
keth	rusting	th ɛɛ m	trying, testing	geer	fence	
keth	rusting	p ɛɛ n	towns (pl)	geer	fence	
keth	rusting	n ε p	burn something	geer	fence	
γëm	thigh	c ë l	fish type	mëëth	friend	
γëm	thigh	g ë m	midwife	mëëth	friend	
γëm	thigh	cëëŋ	day	mëëth	friend	
lip	tongue	l ii ŋ	hear something	diit	birds	
lip	tongue	ciir	discuss something	diit	birds	
lip	tongue	cil	slice something	diit	<i>birds</i>	
lip	tongue	r i η	run	diit	birds	
jïc	ear	d ïi r	bump (in ground)	riiŋ	meat	
jïc	ear	t ii t	mahogany tree	riiŋ	meat	
jïc	ear	t ii k	chin	riiŋ	meat	
jïc	ear	l ii m	messenger	riiŋ	meat	
doth	virgin	yoŋ	opening, hole	nooŋ	wedding	
doth	virgin	r o k	molar tooth	nooŋ	wedding	
doth	virgin	k o m	bark, shell	nooŋ	wedding	
doth	virgin	dor	peace	nooŋ	wedding	
jök	dog	b öö r	full moon	dhöök	skin	
jök	dog	l ö ŋ	rule	dhöök	skin	
jök	dog	b ö m	hump (of cow)	dhöök	skin	
jök	dog	k öö r	fighting, arguing	dhöök	skin	
yor	swamp	koom	stool, chair	kəər	forearm	
yor	swamp	lor	be empty	kəər	forearm	
yor	swamp	g ɔ l	be new	kəər	forearm	
ŋöp	fig	k öö m	beat, thresh something	thööl	snakes (pl)	
ŋöp	fig	ŋ öö ŋ	be poor	thööl	snakes (pl)	
dut	grass	dur	eloping	muuth	darkness	
dut	grass	tur	dust	muuth	darkness	
dut	grass	tuut	bull	muuth	darkness	
dut	grass	luuth	mud fish	muuth	darkness	

Vowels i, ï and u before and after other vowels

The vowels i, \ddot{i} and u often come before or after other vowels. In the following chart, all possible ways that i, \ddot{i} is with other vowels are shown. Read each word carefully and listen to the sound of the vowels together. All vowels in the same syllable are breathy, or all vowels in the same syllable are non-breathy.

Short vowels					Long vowels						
	i, ï befo	ore		i, ï af	ter		i, i before	re		i, ï aft	er
ia	dh ia c	bruise	ai	pai	month	iaa	nh iaa l	god	aai	taai	open place
ïä	p ïä r	cloud	äï	k äï	first born	ïää	d ïää th	old cloth	ääï	g ääï	surprise
ie	ru ei	saliva	ei	n ei	persons	iee	c iee n	last word	eei	yi eei	spirit
ïë	r ïë c	rat	ëï	d ë ï	hammer	ïëë	l ïëë p	tongues	ëëï	rï ëëï	rats
iε	nh iɛ m	charcoal	εi	tεi	stick	iεε	m iɛɛ th	root	εεі		
ïË	th ïë ŋ	antelope	ËΪ	wëi	camp	ïëë	dïëët	elder	ËËÏ	g ëëï	surprise s.m.
io	r io p	claw	oi	loi	choice	ioo			ooi		
ïö	r ïö p	claws	öï	löï	umb. cord	ïöö	th ïöö l	fats	ööï	γööï	hip
iə	th io l	fat	οi	γοi	buy	ioo			ooi	yəəi	run
ïö	tïö	those	ΰï	ru öï	maggot	ïöö	lïöök	earthworm	ööï	lu ööï	work

In the following chart, all possible ways that \mathbf{u} is with other vowels are shown. Read each word carefully and listen to the sound of the vowels together.

Sho	rt vowel	S				Long	<u>vowels</u>				
	u befor	e		u after	r		u before			u after	
ua	kuac	leopard	au	dau	heifer	uaa	ruaal	incest	aau	baau	cracks
uä	ruä	in-law	äu	näu	sour milk	uää	guäär	my father	ääu	kääu	hole
ue	ruei	saliva	eu	teu	life	uee	rueet	pregnancy	eeu	keeu	be drunk
uë	cuër	thief	ëu	kuëu	roach	uëë	kuëër	paddle	ëëu	— -	
uε	kuɛl	star	εu	keu	cackle	uee	kueem	break out	εεu		
uë	ŋuëk	neck	ëu	yïëu	spell	uëë	nuëër	body	ëëu	lëëu	ferment s.m.
ui	cuic	hoofs	iu			uii	cuii	soup	iiu		
uï	yuïc	head	ïu			uii	yuïïr	venom	ïïu		
uo	luok	mouse	ou	jou	chest	uoo	thuoom	harp	oou	roou	sadness
uö	böu	herd	öu			uöö	kööu	bribes	ööu		
uo	ruok	kidney	ou	rou	hippo	นวว	muəəŋ	conversation	oou	joou	gods
uö	puöny	body	äи	cöu	termite	uöö	thuööm	spirit	ööu	puööu	air pump

Other words with vowels ia, ai, iaa, aai are shown below. Read each word carefully and listen to the sound of the vowels.

ia		iaa	
dhiac	bruise	nhiaal	god
nhiam	front (of something)	tiaar	flours, doughs (pl)
nhian	testicle		
tiar	flour, asida dough		
bia	light		
ai		aai	
pai	month, moon	taai	open place, clearing
yai	joy, rejoicing		
wai	vulture		

kuai *descendant, seed* ruai *speech, discourse*

Words with vowels ïä, äï, ïää, ääï are shown below.

ïä		ïää	
pïär	scar, cloud	dïääth	rag, old cloth
pïäl	insult	pïääl	insults (pl)
thïäk	neighbour	mïääl	knees (pl)
bïäth	pumpkin	thïääu	neighbours (pl)
lïä	death		
äï		ääï	
käï	first born child	gääï	surprise

Words with vowels ie, ei, iee, eei are shown below.

ie		iee	
ruei guei dhiei	saliva giraffes (pl) bruises (pl)	cieen cieeth nhieer thieec thieei yieei	last word of dying person winnowing love request stick, club of ebony spirit, breath
ei nei kuei	bodies, persons (pl) leopards (pl)	eei thieei yieei	stick, club of ebony spirit, breath

Words with vowels ïë, ëï, ïëë, ëëï are shown below.

ïë		ïëë	
rïëc	rat	lïëëp	tongues (pl)
nhïër	turtle	rïëëï	rats (pl)
yïëï	life, soul, spirit		
ëï		ëëï	
dëï	hammer	rïëëï	rats (pl)
dëï lëï	hammer tooth	riëëi	rats (pl)

Words with vowels ie, ei, iee are shown below.

iε		iee	
nhiem	charcoal	jieer	shoulder blade

tiɛl	ring, iron	mieeth	root
yiɛt	finger, toe	cieeŋ	tradition, custom
liet	sand	rieem	blood
pieth	growth, growing	cieel	earwax
		tieer	clitoris
εi			
tei	stick		
bei	pain		
kεi	vision		

Words with vowels **ïë, ëï, ïëë, ëëï** are shown below.

ïË		ïëë	
thïëŋ	antelope, gazelle	dïëët	elder, something big, important
nhïëm	fur, hair	jïëët	decoration
mïëth	crop, resource, food	yïëër	paint
yïël	forest	dïëër	pig
tïët	traditional religion, magician	nïëën	day
yïëu	spell, curse	cïëën	intestine
nïëu	co-wife	cïëëŋ	home, land
rïëï	canoe, boat	nyïëël	python
Ε̈́Ï		ËËÏ	
wëï	clan name, cattle camp	gëëï	surprise someone
mëï	dry season, winter		
mëï	labor pains		
lëï	animal		
juëï	fever		
rïëï	canoe, boat		

Words with vowels io, oi are shown below.

io	
riop	claw, fingernail
lion	pot hole, sloping ground
oi	
loi	choice
boi	fears (nl)

Words with vowels **ïö, öï, ïöö, ööï** are shown below.

ïö		ïöö	
rïöp	claws, fingernails (pl)	cïööu	footprint, sole, leg
jiöu	dogs (pl)	thïööl	fats (pl)

öï		ööï	
löï	umbilical cord	yööï <i>hip</i>	
		bööï <i>fear</i>	

Words with vowels io, oi, ooi are shown below.

io			
thiol	fat		
oi		ooi	
įςγ	buy	looi	choose
		yəəi	

Words with vowels iö, öi, iöö, ööi are shown below.

ïö		133	
tïö	those (near hearer)	lïöök	earthworm
ÖΪ		ööï	
ruöï	maggot, worm in meat	luööï	work

Words with vowels ua, au, uaa, aau are shown below.

ua		uaa	
ruath	steer, young male cow	ruaal	incest
duar	hunting	yuaal	wisker (of cat, dog)
tuaŋ	wailing, ululating	tuaany	sickness
guaŋ	swelling		
rual	herd, group (rats, buffalos)		
dual	veil		
lual	weaver bird		
kuac	leopard		
kuai	descendant, seed		
ruai	speech, discourse		
au		aau	
dau	heifer, young female cow	baau	cracks (pl)
kau	bride		

Words with vowels uä, äu, uää, ääu are shown below.

uä		uää	
ruä kuäth	in-law, brother-in-law bone marrow	guäär	my father

äu		ääu	
näu	sour milk	lääu	dreams, prophesies (pl)
däu	rivers (pl)	kääu	pit, hole
		thïääu	neighbours (pl)

Words with vowels ue, eu, uee, eeu are shown below.

ue		uee	
ruei	saliva	rueet	pregnancy
		kueeth	cockroaches (pl)
011		0011	
eu		eeu	
teu	life	keeu	be drunk
theu	menstrual period		

Words with vowels uë, ëu, uëë are shown below.

uë		uëë	
cuër	thief	kuëër	paddle, oar
kuël	amulet, charm, fetish	cuëër	thieves (pl)
guëc	giraffe		
kuëu	cockroach		
ëu			
kuëu	cockroach		

Words with vowels ue, eu, uee are shown below.

uε		uee	
kuɛl	star	kueem	break out
cuec	hoof		
tueŋ	knot, dart spot in wood		
εu			
keu	cackle (like chicken)		

Words with vowels uë, ëu, uëë, ëëu are shown below.

uë		นะ๊ะ๊	
tuëk	harvest season	duëëny	paralyzed person
ŋuëk	neck	nuëër	body, corpse, person
cuëny	liver		
ruëth	chief, lord		
juëk	cow udder, hernia		
juël	tail		
kuën	food		

juëï	fever		
ëu		ëëu	
yïëu	spell, curse	lëëu	ferment something
nyïëu	co-wife	gëëu	make someone late

Words with vowels ui, uii are shown below.

ui		uii	
cuic	hoofs (pl)	cuii	soup
rui	maggots, worms (pl)		
lui	works (pl)		

Words with vowels uï, uïi are shown below.

uï		uii	
yuïc	head	yuïïr	venom, posion of snake

Words with vowels uo, ou, uoo, oou are shown below.

uo		uoo	
luok	mouse	thuoom	harp instrument
duoŋ	mortar, pounding pot		
kuoth	rain		
thuok	mouth, language, message		
tuol	smoke		
ou		oou	
jou	chest	roou	dissapointment
cou	bridegroom, husband		

Words with vowels öu, ööu are shown below.

öu		ööu	
böu	herd (of cows)	kööu	bribes (pl)
löu	rejected person	cïööu	footprint, sole, leg
yöu	monies (pl)		

Words with vowels uo, ou, uoo, oou are shown below.

uo		uoo	
ruok	kidney	muəəŋ	conversation
tuor	flower	duool	folding (cloth)
buse	abdomen, outer stomach		
guoŋ	guinea fowl		
buəl	hare, rabbit		

tuoŋ	egg		
buoc	coward		
cuou	urine		
ou		oou	
rou	hippo	joou	gods (pl)
-	hippo bamboo		gods (pl)

Words with vowels uɔ, ɔu, uɔɔ, ɔɔu are shown below.

uö		uöö	
puöny	body	thuööm	ghost, spirit
guöp	skin	luööu	abscess, infection on skin
luöth	fetus, clotted blood	tuööl	initiation (of girl)
muök	mole, small animal	luööï	work
puöth	dowry, marriage	thuööny	wood, tree trunk
muöl	knee	luöör	reception
nyuöm	seseme paste	cuööt	stump
cuöt	splinter. sliver	ruöön	year
ŋuöl	crowd	nyuööth	point (of something)
buöt	wound, sore	buööm	strength, force
ruöï	maggot, worm in meat	guöör	elephant
thuöu	end (of something)	ŋuöör	ankle
		puööu	bellow, air pump for fire
		tuööu	playing (of child)
öu		ööu	
cäu	termite, white ant	puööu	bellow, air pump for fire
thuöu	end (of something)	tuööu	playing (of child)

We have the following spelling rule for breathy vowels together in the same syllable.

Spelling rule 2: All vowels in the same syllable (beat) are breathy, or all vowels in the same syllable are non-breathy. Breathy and non-breathy vowels are never mixed in the same syllable. However, **u** is never breathy, and can be in the same syllable with breathy vowels or in the same syllable with non-breathy vowels.

Non-breathy		Breathy	У
pai	month, moon	p ïä r	scar, cloud
nh iee r	love	r ïëëï	rats (pl)
nh iɛ m	charcoal	th ïë ŋ	antelope, gazelle
r io p	claw, fingernail	r ïö p	claws, fingernails (pl)
th io l	fat	tïö	those (near hearer)
dual	veil	k uä th	bone marrow
ruei	saliva	c uë r	thief

kuεl	star	t uë k	harvest season
cuii	soup	y uii r	venom, posion of snake
luok	mouse	b öu	herd (of cows)
ruok	kidney	p uö ny	body

Carefully read and say each test word below. The vowels may or may not be written correctly. To know the correct vowels, compare the vowel sounds of the words below with those in the lists above. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test Word		Write correctly	Test We	ord	Write correctly
tiaar	flour	<u>tiar</u>	guëi	giraffes (pl)	
bïäth	pumpkin		yiëi	life, spirit	
dïäth	rag, old cloth		riëëï	rats (pl)	
yieei	spirit, breath		yieet	finger, toe	
kai	first born		rieem	blood	
taai	open place		bei	pain	
nïëu	co-wife		nïën	day	
lëëï	animal		liooŋ	pot hole	
boi	fears (pl)		jïöü	dogs (pl)	
yööi	hip		thiol	fat	
yəəi	run		lïöök	earthworm	
ruoi	maggot		guäŋ	swelling	
käu	bride		tuaany	sickness	
kuäth	bone marrow		teu	life	
lääü	dreams (pl)		kueeth	cockroaches (pl)	
cuëër	thieves (pl)		kueu	cockroach	
kuel	star		cuëny	liver	
nyiëü	co-wife		duëny	lame person	
cuic	hoofs (pl)		cuii	soup	
yuic	head		yuïïr	snake venom	
tuol	smoke		coou	husband	
thuoom	harp		yöu	monies (pl)	
ciööu	footprint		tuor	flower	
jööu	gods (pl)		ruön	year	
thuöu	end		ŋuöl	crowd	

Vowels i, ï and u at the end of words

The consonants w, y can be at the beginning and middle of words, but never at the end of

words.

	Word	beginning	Word m	iddle	Word end
Ww	wëër	night	peweer	famine	
	waŋ	eye	awaŋ	tobacco	
Yу	y ïël	forest	a y ak	lion	
	yuïc	head	ayääŋ	wrestling	

Instead the vowels **u**, **i**, **ï** are at the end of words.

	Word end			
U u	jo u	chest		
	kää u	chest pit, hole		
Ιi	te i	stick		
	taai	open place, clearing		
Ϊï	lë ï	animal		
	γöö ï	hip		

So, we have the following spelling rule for these consonants and vowels at the end of words.

Spelling Rule 3a: At the end of words, write u and i, i instead of y and w.

Correct	Wrong	
ka u	ka w	bride
bεi	bε y	pain
dë ï	dë y	hammer

Sometimes the letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added to the end of a noun to make a plural noun. The singular noun $b\ddot{o}u$ 'herd' becomes plural when the letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added, as in $b\ddot{o}w\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'lazy persons'. At the end of the noun $b\ddot{o}u$ 'herd', we write the vowel u instead of the consonant w. There is only one syllable (beat) in the singular noun $b\ddot{o}u$ 'herd', but there are two syllables in the plural noun $b\ddot{o}w\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'lazy persons'. In $b\ddot{o}w\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$, the vowels \ddot{o} and $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ are in two separate syllables (beats). We need the consonant w to separate these two vowels in the separate syllables. So in the plural noun $b\ddot{o}w\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'lazy persons', we write w instead of u. When the plural letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added to nouns ending in \mathbf{i} or $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$, we write the letter \mathbf{y} instead of \mathbf{i} or $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$.

	Singular noun			Plural noun	
u	bö u	herd	w	bö w ë	herds
	cöu	termite		cäwë	termites
	aga u	grass		aga w ë	grasses
	puöö u	air pump		puöö w ë	air pumps
	raaljioo u	rainbow		raaljioowë	rainbows
i	yai	joy	у	ya y ë	joys
	taa i	open place		taa y ë	open places
ï	juë ï	fever	у	juää y ë	fevers

acëcui ï whip acëcueeyë	whips
--------------------------------	-------

Sometimes the letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added to the end of a noun to show it possesses or has a close relationship with the noun before it. The noun **thuöu** 'end (of something)' has has the letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ when it possesses another noun, as in **wään thuw** $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'place of end'. At the end of the common noun **thuöu** 'end', we write the vowel \mathbf{u} instead of the consonant \mathbf{w} . But in **wään thuw** $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'place of end' the vowels \mathbf{u} and $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ are in two separate syllables (beats). We need the consonant \mathbf{w} to separate these two vowels in the separate syllables. So in the possessor noun **thuw** $\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ 'lazy persons', we write \mathbf{w} instead of \mathbf{u} . When the plural letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added to possessor nouns ending in $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$ or $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$, we write the letter \mathbf{y} instead of $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$ or $\ddot{\mathbf{i}}$.

	Common noun			Noun possessing another noun	
u	thuö u	end (of something)	w	wään thuwë	place of end
i	te i	stick	у	wään te y ë	place of stick
	ya i	joy		wään ya y ë	place of joy
	taai	clearing		wään ta y ë	place of clearing
ï	kä ï	first born child	у	wään kë y ë	place of first born child
	böö ï	fear		wään böö y ë	place of fear
	gää ï	surprise		wään gëë y ë	place of surprise
	luöö ï	work		wään luu y ë	place of work
	ruö ï	maggot		wään ru y ë	place of maggot

We have the following spelling rule for the vowel \mathbf{u} , \mathbf{i} , \mathbf{i} when the letter $-\ddot{\mathbf{e}}$ is added.

Spelling Rule 1b: In-between vowels in two different syllables (beats), write **y** and **w** instead of **i** and **u**.

Correct	Wrong	
cäu	cäw	termite
cäwë	couë	termites
yai	ya y	joy
ya y ë	yaië	joys
juë ï	juë y	fever
juää y ë	juää ï ë	fevers

Correct	Wrong	
thuö u	thuö w	end (of something)
wään thu w ë	wään thu u ë	place of end
tei	te y	stick
wään te y ë	wään te i ë	place of stick
kä ï	kä y	first born child
wään kë y ë	wään kë ï ë	place of first born child

Exercise 10

Carefully read and say each test word below. The **bold** letter in each test word may or may not be written correctly. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test Word	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
a i ak <i>lion</i>	<u>ayak</u>	bε y	pain	
wään böö y ë place of fear		puöö u ë	air pumps	
te w life		yəəi	run	

a u aŋ	tobacco	 lö y	umbilical cord	
yö u	monies (pl)	 асёсиєє у ё	whips	
rïë ï	canoe, boat	 wään thu w ë	place of end	
aga u ë	grasses	 lë ï	animal	
wään luu i ë	place of work	 taa y ë	open places	
baa u	cracks (pl)	 wään ya i ë	place of joy	

Tone

Some words sound the same except for tone. We now learn about these words.

<u>Tone</u> is how High or Low the sound of the syllable is, or how the sound rises or falls. The noun **rel** 'fox' has High tone and **rel** 'termite mound' has Low tone. Do you hear this difference?

Below are other words that differ only by tone. There are only a few nouns that differ only by tone. A <u>noun</u> is a person, animal, place, thing, or idea.

Singular nouns ($\mathbf{H} = \text{High}, \mathbf{L} = \text{Low}, \mathbf{HL} = \text{High-Low}$)

H	rel	fox	n	L	rel	termite mound	n
\mathbf{H}	tïk	chin	n	L	tïk	cloudy day	n
Η	wëër	night	n	L	wëër	dung	n
H	maar	relative by blood	n	HL	maar	my mother	n.pos

There are many nouns that differ from verbs only by tone. A <u>verb</u> is an action, movement, change, or state. Verbs sometimes have an object—a receiver of the action. Verbs that have an object are called <u>transitive verbs</u> (v.tr). Verbs that do not have an object are called <u>intransitive verbs</u> (v.in). Verb that do not have a different form when they have or do not have an object are just called verbs (v).

transitive verb (1) Nuëër göör be dö/ye bak. Person wants to cut open a thing/him. intransitive verb (2) Nuëër göör be bak. Person wants to cut open.

The verbs below can take the place of **bak** 'cut open' in either (1) or (2) above.

Nouns and verbs ((H = High, L = Low, dH = downstepped High, which sounds like Mid)

Η	bak	crack	n	L	bak	cut open	V
Η	daap	laziness	n	L	daap	bear, give birth to	v.tr
Η	gääï	surprise	n	dΗ	gääï	surprise	v.in
\mathbf{H}	jïëët	decoration	n	dΗ	jïëët	mark (ground)	v.in
Η	käï	first born child	n	dΗ	käï	mentrate, be weak	v.in
H	ŋääth	hope	n	dΗ	ŋääth	hope	v.in
\mathbf{H}	teeŋ	music, beating of drum	n	dH	teeŋ	play, knock	v.in

Н	weer	blessing	n	dН	weer	bless, praise	v.in
L	ceŋ	strap	n	H	ceŋ	wear	V
L	mut	spear type	n	H	mut	pierce	V
L	bul	drum, dance	n	\mathbf{H}	bul	roast s.m.	v.tr
L	door	peace	n	H	door	mediate, intercede for s.m.	v.tr
L	gol	brye, corral, pen	n	H	gol	renew s.m.	v.tr
L	jak	pelican bird	n	H	jak	feel s.m.	v.tr
L	lök	belly button	n	H	lök	reject, refuse s.m.	v.tr
$\mathbf L$	loc	heart	n	H	loc	choose s.m.	v.tr
L	mëëth	friend, friendship	n	H	mëëth	greet s.m.	v.tr
L	rek	pen (of cows)	n	H	rek	join s.m.	v.tr
L	ruok	kidney	n	H	ruok	dress s.m.	v.tr
L	teu	life	n	H	teu	live	v.in
L	theu	menstrual period	n	H	theu	respect, avoid	v.in
L	theem	trying, testing	n	H	theem	try, test, measure	v.in
L	bei	pain	n	H	bei	have pain	v.in
L	buööm	strength, force	n	H	buööm	be strong	v.in
L	dap	birth, lazy person	n	H	dap	give birth	v.in
L	löu	rejected, refused person	n	H	löu	reject, refuse	v.in
L	lou	bamboo	n	H	lou	winnow, thrown in air	v.in
L	ŋääth	illness, disease	n	dΗ	ŋääth	hope	v.in
L	jääl	trip, journey	n	dΗ	jääl	walk	v.in
\mathbf{L}	guöör	elephant	n	dΗ	guöör	follow	v.in
L	rïc	beam, rafter	n	dΗ	rïc	straighten, stretch s.m.	v.tr
L	nooŋ	wedding	n	dΗ	nooŋ	take, bring s.m.	v.tr

There are two nouns that differ from numbers only by tone. A <u>number</u> tells how many of a noun there is.

Nouns and numbers

L	rou	thirst	n	H	rou	two	num
L	wëël	herb, medicine, drub	n	H	wëël	ten	num

There are four nouns that differ in singular and plural form only by tone.

Singular and plural nouns

	Singular			Plural	
L	wëth	buttock	H	wëth	buttocks
L	lëï	animal	H	lëï	animals
L	kuai	seed, descendant	H	kuai	seeds, descendants
Η	cou	husband, bridegroom	L	cou	husbands, bridegrooms

There are a few pronouns that differ only by tone. A $\underline{\text{pronoun}}$ takes the place of a noun.

Subject pronoun (3) Ayak juii nuëër Lion is seeing person

	ku juii <u>ko</u> nuëër.	and we (not you) are seeing person.
Object pronoun	(4) Ayak juii <u>ko</u> .	Lion is seeing us (not you).
Prepositional pronoun	(5) Ku room waŋ dε ke <u>kε</u> .	And his eyes meet with them.
Possessor pronoun	(6) Ayak juii cieŋ <u>ke</u> .	Lion is seeing his homes.

The pronouns below can take the place of one of the underlined pronouns in (3-6) above.

Pronouns

\mathbf{H}	ko	we (not you) (subject)	pron	L	kə	us (not you) (object)	pron
\mathbf{H}	kən	we (and you) (subject)	pron	L	kon	us (and you) (object)	pron
Η	ye	you (pl) (subject)	pron	L	ye	you (pl) (object)	pron
\mathbf{H}	kε	(with) them	pron	L	kε	his, her (plural noun)	pron
\mathbf{H}	yε	(with) him, her	pron	L	yε	(s)he (subject)	pron
H	yï	(with) you (sg)	pron	L	yï	you (sg) (subject)	pron

There are a few other words that differ only by tone.

Other words

H	kë	my (plural noun)	pron	L	kë	to	prep
L	bör	white	adj	H	bör	singe, burn s.m.	v.tr
H	thaar	under, below	prep	dH	thaar	float	v.in

There are also many transitive and intransitive verbs that differ only by tone.

transitive verb	(7) Nuëër göör be dö/ye bak.	Person wants to <u>cut open</u> a thing/him.
intransitive verb	(8) Nuëër göör be <u>bak</u> .	Person wants to cut open.

The verbs below can take the place of bak 'cut open' in either (7) or (8) above.

Transitive and intransitive verbs

Η	bath	loose s.m.	v.tr	dН	bath	loose	v.in
H	baath	push over s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	baath	push over	v.in
\mathbf{H}	cith	spit s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	cith	spit	v.in
Η	cuuth	impale s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	cuuth	impale	v.in
\mathbf{H}	dak	make s.m. tired	v.tr	dΗ	dak	be tired	v.in
\mathbf{H}	döth	uproot, wean s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	döth	uproot, wean	v.in
Η	dhool	pass, cross s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	dhool	cut	v.in
\mathbf{H}	gop	snatch, seize s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	gop	snatch, seize	v.in
H	jaaŋ	skin s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	jaaŋ	skin	v.in
\mathbf{H}	juooc	chase s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	juooc	chase	v.in
\mathbf{H}	këër	awaken s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	këër	be awake	v.in
H	lak	wash s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	lak	dream	v.in
\mathbf{H}	lam	curse s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	lam	curse	v.in
Η	laac	defecate s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	laac	defecate	v.in
\mathbf{H}	lääk	feed s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	lääk	insult	v.in

\mathbf{H}	lääu	feed	v.in	dΗ	lääu	ferment	v.in
\mathbf{H}	leec	thank s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	leec	thank	v.in
\mathbf{H}	lëëth	beg s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	lëëth	beg	v.in
\mathbf{H}	nep	light, ignite s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	nep	light, ignite	v.in
Η	пєр	burn s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	пєр	burn	v.in
\mathbf{H}	noop	send s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	noop	send	v.in
H	päär	make s.m. like	v.tr	dΗ	päär	be like	v.in
\mathbf{H}	reet	tear s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	reet	tear	v.in
\mathbf{H}	tet	dig s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	tet	dig	v.in
\mathbf{H}	teeŋ	play, knock on s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	teeŋ	play, knock	v.in
\mathbf{H}	teer	argue, fight s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	teer	argue fight	v.in
\mathbf{H}	teet	withdraw s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	teet	withdraw	v.in
\mathbf{H}	thöt	pull s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	thöt	pull	v.in
\mathbf{H}	weer	bless, praise s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	weer	bless, praise	v.in
H	yaak	plunder s.m.	v.tr	dΗ	yaak	plunder	v.in
Η	gum	heap, pile s.m.	v.tr	L	gum	endure	v.in
H	keeu	make s.m. drunk	v.tr	L	keeu	be dtrunk	v.in
\mathbf{H}	cool	call, invite s.m.	v.tr	L	cool	announce	v.in
<u>H</u>	rëth	arrive to, reach s.m.	v.tr	L	rëth	arrive, reach	v.in
L	ŋak	carry s.m. (in bag)	v.tr	dΗ	ŋak	carry	v.in

Some verbs that show opposite direction only differ by tone. The verb **lööm** 'bringing' in (9) has Low tone, and the verb **lööm** 'taking' in (10) has High tone.

Towards	L	(9) Nuëër <u>lööm</u> gat.	Person is bringing child.
<u>Away</u>	Η	(10) Nuëër <u>lööm</u> gat.	Person is taking child.

In writing, it is important to show the difference in meaning made by tone. So far, there has not been agreement on how to show the difference made by tone. Below are some of the ways that tone could be shown in writing. The Reel community should choose the best option. Options 1-3 have breathy marks above vowels (like ä). Options 4-6 have breathy marks below the vowels (like a).

	Low	High	Breathy	Low	High	High	downst.	High	High-Low
							-High		
Option 1	<u>a</u>	' a	ä	1 <u>ë</u> ï	'lëï	'döth	'd <u>ö</u> th	'maar	'm <u>a</u> ar
Option 2	<u>a</u>	'a	ä	1 <u>ë</u> ï	l'ëï	d'öth	d <u>ö</u> 'th	m'aar	m'a <u>a</u> r
Option 3	<u>a</u>	ạ	ä	1 <u>ë</u> ï	lëï	döth	d <u>ö</u> ṭh	mạar	mạ <u>a</u> r
Option 4	à	á	<u>a</u>	l <u>èi</u>	l <u>éi</u>	d <u>ó</u> th	d <u>ŏ</u> th	máar	máàr
Option 5	à	á	ą	lệi	léi	dóth	dŏth	máar	máàr
Option 6	à	á	a	l <u>èi</u>	l <u>éi</u>	dóth	d <u>ŏ</u> th	máar	máàr
				animal	animals	uproot	uproot	blood	my
						s.m.		relative	mother

Spelling Rules Reviewed

In this book, we have learned three spelling rules that help reading and writing. We now review these rules. There are examples after each rule. The page number is shown where the rule is further explained.

Spelling Rule 1a (page 13): At the end of words, write p, th, t, c, k instead of b, dh, d, j, g.

	Correct	Wrong	
p	li p	li b	tongue
th	wë th	wë dh	buttock
t	teet	teed	hand
c	baac	baa j	calf (of leg)
k	roo k	roo g	molar tooth

Spelling Rule 1b (page 14): When the suffix $-\ddot{e}$ is added to the end of words, write p, th, t, c, k instead of b, dh, d, j, g.

	Correct		Correct	Wrong	
p	da p	lazy person	da p ë	da b ë	lazy persons
th	mëë th	friend	mëë th ë	mëë dh ë	friends
t	rëë t	razor	rëë t ë	rëë d ë	razors
c	rï c	rafter	rïï c ë	rïi j ë	rafters
k	dhöö k	leopard skin	dhöö k ë	dhöö g ë	leopard skins

	Correct		Correct	Wrong	
p	tä p	pot hole	wään të p ë	wään të b ë	place of pot hole
th	puö th	marriage	wään pu th ë	wään pu dh ë	place of marriage
t	yie t	finger	wään yi t ë	wään yi d ë	place of finger
c	thieec	request	wään thiëë c ë	wään thïëëjë	place of request
k	kaa k	field	wään kaa k ë	wään kaa g ë	place of field

Spelling Rule 1c (page 15): **p, th, t, c, k** and **b, dh, d, j, g** can all be at the beginning of words and between vowels in other positions of words.

	Correct		Correct	
p, b	p an	swamp area	b an	bedbug
th, dh	th öl	wall	dh öök	leopard skin
t, d	t ap	tobacco	d ap	lazy person
c, j	cou	husband	j ou	chest
k, g	k aak	field, garden	g aak	jaw

	Correct		Correct	
p, b	a p aal	knife	a b aar	orphan
th, dh	a th ak	pot	a dh aar	pot

t, d	a t ak	something twisted	a d aŋ	gun, bow
c, j	a c aar	fish	a j aar	basin
k, g	a k äl	calf	a g äk	game

Spelling rule 2 (page 37): All vowels in the same syllable (beat) are breathy, or all vowels in the same syllable are non-breathy. Breathy and non-breathy vowels are never mixed in the same syllable. However, **u** is never breathy, and can be in the same syllable with breathy vowels or in the same syllable with non-breathy vowels.

Non-br	eathy	Breathy	y
p ai	month, moon	p ïä r	scar, cloud
nh iee r	love	r ïëëï	rats (pl)
nh iɛ m	charcoal	th ïë ŋ	antelope, gazelle
r io p	claw, fingernail	r ïö p	claws, fingernails (pl)
th io l	fat	tïö	those (near hearer)
d ua l	veil	k uä th	bone marrow
r uei	saliva	c uë r	thief
k ue l	star	tuëk	harvest season
cuii	soup	y uiï r	venom, posion of snake
l uo k	mouse	b öu	herd (of cows)
r uo k	kidney	p uö ny	body

Spelling Rule 3a (page 29): At the end of words, write u and i, i instead of y and w.

Correct	Wrong	
ka u	ka w	bride
be i	bε y	pain
dë ï	dë y	hammer

Spelling Rule 1b (page 40): In-between vowels in two different syllables (beats), write **y** and **w** instead of **i** and **u**.

Correct	Wrong		Correct	Wrong	
cöu	cäw	termite	thuö u	thuöw	end (of something)
cä w ë	couë	termites	wään thu w ë	wään thu u ë	place of end
ya i	ya y	joy	tei	tε y	stick
ya y ë	ya i ë	joys	wään te y ë	wään te i ë	place of stick
juë ï	juë y	fever	kä ï	kä y	first born child
juää y ë	juää ï ë	fevers	wään kë y ë	wään kë ï ë	place of first born child

Exercise 11

Carefully read and say each test word below. The **bold** letter in each test word may or may not be written correctly. Write the word correctly in the space given. The first one is done as an example.

Test V	Vord	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
däg	river	<u>dök</u>	c uë ny	liver	
g aa k	field, garden		k ee dh	cow urine	
baa w	cracks (pl)		yəəi	run	
di d	bird (general)		wään tə b ë	place of tobacco	
rïi j ë	rafters		wään böö ï ë	place of fear	
taa y ë	open places		rïë y	canoe, boat	
k äi	first born		a d uany	crippled person	
a g ä g	game		ŋ üö l	crowd	
yö w	monies (pl)		wään thu u ë	place of end	
l ëi	animal		da p ë	lazy persons	
n ïëü	co-wife		wään thiëëcë	place of request	
b εi	pain		асёсиєє у ё	whips	

Reel Word List

Below, singular words (one) and plural words (more than one) are in alphabetical order. The tone is given for some words that have the same spelling. There are nouns (n), pronouns (pron), verbs (v) and other word categories listed by the abbreviations below.

Word category abbreviations

		Berj were transfer	
adj	=	adjective	describes a following noun
adv	=	adverb	describes a verb
con	=	connector	joins clauses, phrases or sentences
dem	=	demonstrative	points to or shows which noun is talked about
n	=	noun	a person, animal, place, thing, or idea
n.sg	=	singular noun	a singular noun that has no plural form
n.pl	=	plural noun	a plural noun tha has no singular form
num	=	number	tells how many of a noun there are
part	=	particle	word or affix that has a special use
prep	=	preposition	introduces a noun phrase that describes a previous action
pron	=	pronoun	takes the place of a noun or noun phrase
V	=	verb	a verb that has the same form when it
			has or does not have an object
v.in	=	intranstive verb	a verb that does not have an object
v.tr	=	transitive verb	a verb that can have an object

Singular	<u>Tone</u>	<u>Plural</u>	<u>Tone</u>		
A a					
abaaŋ		abëëŋ		n	space, spot
abaar		abar		n	orphan
acak		acaau		n	flea, tick
acaar		acar		n	fish
acëcuii		acëcuɛɛyë		n	whip

adaŋ		adëëŋ		n	weapon
adëër				n	behaviour
adöl		adoolë		adj	brown
aduany		aduɛɛnyë		n	crippled person
adhaar		adhëër		n	pot
adhuur		adhur		n	hammer for pounding stakes, made of wood or horn
agäk		agök		n	game
agook				n	monkey
agurböök		agurböökë		n	onion
ajaar		ajar		n	water basin made of wood
ajaac		ajac		n	bird glue for trapping, birdlime
akaja		akajanë		n	donkey
akäl		akäälë		n	calf
alath		alaath		n	cloth, thread
alualuaal				adv	dawn
amëël		amël		n	sheep
anyaŋ		anyïëëŋ		n	chisel tool
anyïnyï				n	hyena
aŋau				n	cat
aŋɛth		aŋeeth		n	broth
apaal		apäl		n	knife
atak		ataau		n	twisted thing (fish, leaves into mat)
atäc		atöc		n	spice (general), bird type
ater		ateer		n	conflict, hatred
ateel				n	leg
atël		atäl		n	bowl from calabash
atëltöu		atäältöne		n	ladle, cup
athak		athëëu		n	pot, back of head
athëën				adv	yesterday
awaŋ		awaŋë		n	tobaaco
ayak		ayaau		n	lion
ayääŋ		ayëŋ		n	wrestling
Bb		1			7
bak		baau		n	crack
bak		1 "		V	cut open
ban		banë		n	bedbug
bany				n	wealth
bapieny		1		adv	morning
bar		baar		n	open water with no grass or trees, lake
baac		bac		n	calf (of leg)
bëël	т	bel		n	grain, sorghum, dura
bei	L	bec		n	pain
bei	Н	1. : .	т	v.in	have pain
bia	L	bia	L	n	light

1 -1				1.1
bil			v.tr	lick something
bir			v.tr	spear something
biir		11	v.in	spear
bïäth		bïääth	n	pumpkin
book			v.tr	offer something
böl		bol	n	flame
böm		bom	n	hump (of cow)
böu		böwë	n	herd
bööï		boi	n	fear
böör		boorë	n	full moon, 15 nights of bright moon
bul	L	buöl	n	drum, dance
bul	Н		v.tr	roast something
buoc		buoc	n	abdomen, outer stomach
buoc		boi	n	coward
buəl		buolë	n	hare, rabbit
buöt		buööt	n	wound, sore
buööm	L	bum	n	strength, force
buööm	Н		v.in	be strong
bur		buör	n	camp
				···· I
Сс				
cak			n.pl	milk
cäny		cäänyë	n	heel (of foot)
ceŋ	L	cëŋ	n	strap
ceŋ	Н	J	V	wear
ceer			n	morning star
cëk		mën	n	wife
cël		cïëël	n	elbow
cër		cer	n	bright star, morning star
cël		cäl	n	fish type
cëŋ		cääŋ	n	sun, day
cët		cït	n	colour (general)
cëth		ceth	n	excrement, feces
cieen		cën	n	last word of dying person
cieeth		ceth	n	winnowing
cieel		ciel	n	earwax
cieeŋ		cëŋ	n	tradition, custom, way of life
cil		ciel	n	rhino
ciil		CICI	v.tr	slice something
ciim			v.u v.tr	kiss someone
ciir			v.tr	discuss something
cïëën		cïn	n	intestine
ciëëŋ		cieŋ	n	home, land
ciööu		cok	n	footprint, track, sole, bottom of foot, leg
ciim			v.in	beat .
coth			n	guinea worm

cou	Н	cou	L	n	husband, bridegroom
cöör				n	blindess
cool	Н			v.tr	call, invite someone
cool	L			v.in	announce
coor				v.tr	make someone blind
cöu		cöwë		n	termite
cuër		cuëër		n	thief
cuec		cuic		n	hoof
cuii				n.pl	soup
cul		cuul		n	penis
cuou				n.pl	urine
cuöt		cut		n	splinter, sliver
cuööt		cut		n	stump, remainder after tree is cut
D d					
dak				v.tr	make someone tired
daŋ		dooŋ		n	elder, older person
dap	L	dapë		n	lazy person
dap	L	dëp		n	birth
dap	Н	1		v.in	give birth
dau		deei		n	heifer, young female cow
daan		danë		n	palate, top of mouth
daap	Н			n.sg	laziness
daap	L			v.tr	bear, give birth to
del		dët		n	goat
dep		dëp		n	trap
dëbël		dëbeelë		n	eagle, bird type
dëi		deeth		n	hammer
dëkër		dëkerë		n	hot season
dënëme				pron	their
dëŋeer		dëŋeerë		n	monkey
dër		arijeer e		n	centre, middle
dërceŋ		dërceŋ		n	village
dial		derectj		adv	all
dir		dier		n	cricket insect
dit		diit		n	bird (general), song
dïääth		dïëth		n	rag, old cloth
dïëër		dïërë		n	hog, pig
dïëët		diit		n	elder, something big, important
dïr		dïëër		n	bump (in ground)
diit		arcer		v.in	be big (in size)
doth		dothë		n	virgin
door	L	doorë		n	peace
door	Н	40010		v.tr	mediate, intercede for
dör		dor		n	tribe
döth		401		v.tr	uproot, wean something
3011				v . L1	aproon, mean somening

döön				v.in	dry
door				v.in	mediate, intercede
dəm				v.tr	catch something (in air)
dəm				n	defending
dəŋ				v.in	be old
dot		dot		n	vagina
doom				v.in	catch (in air)
dö		kök		n	thing
dök		däu		n	river
dual		dualë		n	veil
duar				n	hunting
duëëny	L	duëëny	L	n	paralyzed person
dul	L	duöl	L	n	bundle
duoŋ		duoŋ		n	mortar, pounding pot
duool		dul		n	folding (cloth)
dut	-	duöt		n	grass
duur	L	duur	L	n	eloping
Dh dh					
dhal				v.tr	fail something
dhiac		dhiei		n	bruise
dhiamdhiam		dhiamdhiamë		n	spring
dhïëëc		amamamame		num	five
dhöök		dhöökë			leopard skin
dhööl		UHOOKC		n v tr	-
		المال		v.tr	cut something
dhol		dhal		n	boy
dhom				v.tr	stalk something
dhöl				v.tr	violate, cross something
G g	т				1 1: (C.C. :()
gak	L	gou		n	peel, skin (of fruit)
gak	L	gaau		n	hard layer on old food
gal		gol		n	newly cultivated ground
gat		gaat		n	child, son, baby
gaak				n.pl	jaw
gääï	Н	gäï		n	surprise
gääï	dΗ			v.in	surprise
gääk	L	gääk	L	n	wing
gäär		gäärë		n	intentional scars on forehead
gëm		gëëm		n	cheek
gër		gëër		n	back (of body or something)
geer		ger		n	fence
geeth		0**		n	brightness
gëëï				v.tr	surprise someone
_		aëëmä			midwife
gëëm		gëëmë		n	muwnc

gëëu gok gool goon		gou göŋ	v.tr n v.in n	make someone late quiver, bag of arrows be around hospitality for guests
gööl göör gɔl gɔl	L H	gal	v.tr v.tr n v.tr	surround something want, desire something brye, corral, pen renew something
gool gööl guaŋ		guaŋë	v.in v.tr n	be new boast, brag something swelling
guäär guëc guɔŋ guɔ̈p		guäärë guei guoŋ gup	n.pos n n	my father giraffe guinea fowl skin
guöör guöör guu	L dH	guër guööth	n v.in n	elephant follow bee
Υ γ yaar		yaarë	n	plank of wood
γäc γëm		yëc yääm yöŋ	n n n	load, burden thigh opening, hole
yon yöt yööï		yot yooth	n n	hut, room hip
yoi yor yooc yool		yar	v.in n v.tr v.tr	buy swamp area buy something cough something
yök yöl yööl		γääl	n n v.in	peg, stake arm hit, strike
Ï ï ïruum ïtïëëp		ïtïp	adv n	tomorrow shade, shadow
Jj	T	•		
jak jak jath	L H	jen	n v.tr n	pelican, bird type feel something tree, firewood
jäl Jäŋ jär	T	jääl Jääŋ järë	n n n	guest, visitor Dinka person belch, burp
jääl	L	jël	n	trip, journey, movement

;;;1	dН			v.in	walk
jääl jeth	uп	jïith		v.III n	walk scornion
jëp		jep		n	scorpion axe
jic		jith		n	stomach
jieer		jir		n	shoulder blade
jiit		Jii		v.tr	mark something
jic		jïth		n	ear, leaf
jïëët	Н	jïtë		n	decoration
jïëët	dН	jite		v.in	mark (ground)
jou	GII	jooth		n	chest
jook		jootii		v.in	begin
jök		jïöu		n	dog
jok		jïöök		n	back (of something)
jok		jook		n	god, magic
jook		Joou		v.tr	begin something
joom		jomë		n	wind
jör		jär		n	forest
juëï		juääyë		n	fever
=		juäk			cow udder, hernia
juëk juël		juäk juäl		n	tail
Juei		Juai		n	tan
K k					
kam	L	kam	L	n	middle of something
kaŋ		kaaŋ		n	alchohol
kara		karanë		n	ladder
kath		këth		n	waterhole, well
kau		kaath		n	bride
kaak		kau		n	field, garden
kaar		kar		n	background information before marriage
käï	Н	këï		n	first born child
käï	dН			v.in	mentrate, be weak
käk		käwë		n	phlegm, throat mucus
kär				n.pl	branches
kärääth		kärääth		n	maize
kääŋ		këŋ		n	proverb
kääu		käu		n	pit, hole, cave
ket				v.in	swim
keeth		keth		n	cow urine
keeu				v.in	be drunk
kei		këc		n	vision
keŋ				v.in	groan (with pain)
keth		keth		n	bile, gall, rusting
keu				v.in	cackle (like chicken)
keet		ketë		n	walking stick
kën				v.in	give
këny		käänyë		n	debt

kër		käärë		n	fishing net
këët		këëtë		n	falcon, hawk
kok		kööu		n	bribe, payment
kom		köm		n	bark (of tree), shell (of groundnut)
koot		KUIII		v.in	
kök		kou			dry hala in log migration
kör		köör		n	hole in log, migration
				n	fighting, arguing
köt		kot		n	shield
kööt				v.tr	dry something
kok		1		v.tr	pay something
kəm		kööm		n	stool, chair
kəəc				v.tr	sew something
kəər				n	forearm
kör				v.tr	spread something out
kööm				V	beat, thresh
köör				v.in	spread out
kuac		kuei		n	leopard
kuai	L	kuai	Н	n	seed, descendant
kuäth		kuëth		n	bone marrow
kuël		kueel		n	amulet, charm, fetish
kuëu		kueeth		n	cockroach
kuëër		kuër		n	paddle, oar
kuɛl		kuel		n	star
kueem				v.in	break out
kuën		kuan		n	food
kuluk		kuluöu		n	upper arm
kuŋgu		kuŋgunë		n	parrot, bird type
kuoth		kuuth		n	rain
L1					
läk		lääu		n	dream, prophecy
läŋ	L	läŋ	L	n	prayer
lëï		lec		n	tooth
lëk		leu		n	word, speaking
lël		lel		n	net for carrying container
lëëth		lëth		n	begging
lëc		lääc		n	semen
lëï	L	lëï	Н	n	animal
lëëu				v.tr	ferment something
liet		lit		n	sand
liŋ				v.tr	hear something
lioŋ		lioŋë		n	pot hole, sloping ground
lip		lïëëp		n	tongue
liiŋ		F		v.in	hear, listen
liip				v.m v.tr	wait for something
liä		lïïth		n.u	death
11 a		111111		11	ucau1

lïöök		lïöökë	n	earthworm
lïim		lïëëm	n	messenger
liiŋ			v.in	sink
loi			n	choice
lol		löölë	n	valley
löï		loi	n	umbilical cord
lök	L	lou	n	belly button, navel
lök	Н		v.tr	reject, refuse something
löu	L	löu	n	rejected, refused person
löu	Η		v.in	reject, refuse
lööm			v.tr	borrow, take something
lööŋ		löŋë	n	tool of witchdoctor made from gourd
lööŋ		löŋë	n	rule
loc	L	lööc	n	heart
loc	Н		v.tr	choose something
lok			v.tr	winnow something
lor			v.in	be empty
lou	L	looth	n	bamboo
lou	H		v.in	winnow, throw in air
loci			v.in	choose
lööŋ			v.tr	rest something
lual		luaalë	n	weaver bird
luk		luöu	n	court case
luok		luowë	n	mouse
luöth		luuth	n	fetus, blood clot
luööi		lui	n	work
luöör		lur		
		luk	n	reception
luööu luth		luuth	n	abscess, infection on skin mud fish
			n	
luum		lumë	n	gossiper, traitor
M m				
		mëï	n	fire, family
mac	Н		n	
maar		mar	n	relative by blood
maar	HL	maarë	n.pos	my mother
mät		mët	n	agreement, meeting
mäth		mëth 	n	drink
määl		mël 	n 	wealth
mekec		mekeeyë 	adj	yellow
mer		mëër	n	tear (of eye)
mël		mel	n	oath, promise
meek			n	kindness
mëï		mäyë	n	dry season, winter
mëï			n.pl	labor pains
mëëth	L	mëëthë	n	friend, friendship
mëëth	Η		v.tr	greet someone

miɛɛth		miith	n	root
min		11111(11	v.tr	wink something
mïëth		miith	n.u	food (general), crop, resource
mök		mou	n	buffalo
mun		muön	n	dirt, soil
muəəŋ		muəŋë mïäu	n	conversation
muök		mïääl	n	mole, small animal knee
muöl	т		n	
mut	L	muöt	n	spear type
mut	Н	••.1	V	pierce
muuth		muöth	n	darkness
N n				
näu			n nl	sour milk
			n.pl	
nep		•	v.tr	light, ignite something
neer		nër	n	wrapping
nep			v.tr	burn something
nëk			v.tr	kill, murder someone
nëër		nëërë	n	maternal uncle
niin			v.tr	sleep something
nïëën		niin	n	day
nop		noop	n	message
nooŋ	L	nöŋ	n	wedding
nooŋ	dΗ		v.tr	bring something
noop			v.tr	send something
nok		noou	n	feather
noŋ			v.tr	take away something
nooŋ			v.in	take away
nuëër		nei	n	person
Nh nh				
nhiam		nhïëëm	n	front (of something)
nhian		nhiaan	n	testicle
nhiaal			n.sg	sky, top (of something)
nhiaal		nhialë	n	god
nhieer		nhïër	n	love
nhiem		nhiim	n	charcoal
nhïër		nhieer	n	turtle
nhïëm		nhïëëm	n	fur, hair
Ny ny				
nyal		nyër	n	girl
nyan		nyanë	n	caterpillar
nyaŋ		nyïëëŋ	n	crocodile
nyemïrï		nyemïrïnë	n	bean
nyet		nyët	n	rib
•		•		

nyith		nyiethë	n	brain
nyïëu		nyïëkë	n	co-wife
nyïëël		nyäl	n	python
nyuöm		nyuööm	n	sesme paste
nyuööth		nyuth	n	point (of something)
Ŋŋ				
ŋak		ŋaau	n	pus
ŋär		ŋäär	n	bean
ŋät		ŋët	n	oil
ŋääth	L	ijet	n	illness
ŋääth	Н	ŋëth	n	hope
ŋääth	dН	ijem	v.in	hope
•	um		v.in v.in	be poor
ŋöŋ nön		ກວິກ		-
ŋöp		ŋäp	n	fig
ŋööŋ "I-			v.tr	oppress someone
ŋuëk		ŋuäk	n	neck
ŋuöl 		ŋul	n	crowd
ŋuöör		ŋur	n	ankle
Pр				
pai		pëëth	n	moon, month
palata		palatanë	n	fish hook, line
pan		pën	n	swamp area
pap			n	open land
pen		pen	n	town
peweer		pewer	n	famine
peen		1	v.in	fall
pëm		pëëm	n	rock, mountain
pieth		pïth	n	growth, growing
piny		pienyë	n	ground, land
pï		pïë	n	water
pïäl		pïääl	n	insult
piär		pïäärë	n	cloud, scar
piïk		pidare	v.tr	push something
pör		poorë	n	road, path
pul		puul	n	pool
puiny		pïëny	n	body
		puth		marriage, dowry
puöth		±	n	
puööu		puööwë	n	bellow, air pump for fire
Rr				
rääl		rël	n	muscle, blood vessel
rek	L	reu	n	pen (of cows)
rek	Η		v.tr	join something
rel	Н	reelë	n	fox

rel	L	rët	n	termite mound
rëët	L	rëëtë	n	razor
rëënh		10000	con	until
rieem		rim	n	blood
rin		rin	n	name
riŋ		1111	v.in	run
riop		rïöp	n	claw, fingernail
rit		riet	n	ebony tree
riiŋ		1100	v.tr	run something
rïc	L	rice	n	rafter, beam
rïc	dН	1100	v.tr	straighten, stretch something
rïëc	GII	rïëëï	n	rat
riëi		rïääth	n	canoe, boat
riin		rïŋ	n	meat
=	L	1111	n	thirst
rou	Н			two
rou rook	11	röök	num	molar tooth
		TOOK	n w in	
root			v.in	CIY
roou		###1	n	sadness, dissapointment
röl		rööl rööth	n	voice
rou			n	hippo
röth		räth	n	armpit
ruai		ruac	n	speech, discourse
rual		rualë	n	herd, group (rats, buffalos)
ruath		ruëëth	n	steer, young male cow
ruaal 		rualë	n	incest
ruä		ruëth	n	in-law, brother-in-law
ruei		ruei	n	saliva
rueet		ruët	n	pregnancy
ruëth		ruäth	n	chief, lord
rum	-	rumë	n	club, stick
ruok	L	ruou	n	kidney
ruok	Н		v.tr	dress someone
ruöi		rui	n	maggot, worm in rotting meat
ruöön		ruun	n	year
ruu		ruöu	n	knot, tying
T t				
tap		taap	n	tobacco
taai		taayë	n	open place, clearing
täp		tëp	n	pot hole, ground sloping down
täth			n	mould, forge, makes blacksmith tools
teu	L	tëk	n	life
teu	Η		v.in	live
teeŋ	Н	tëŋ	n	music, beating of drum
teeŋ	dH		v.in	play, knock

teer		tër	n	playing
teet		tëët	n	hand
tëër		tërë	n	chicken
tei		tei	n	stick
tiar		tiaar	n	flour, asida dough
tiɛl		tiil	n	iron, ring
tieer		tïër	n	clitoris
tik		tiek	n	bead
tiiŋ			v.tr	hit something
tiit			v.tr	understand something
tïc		tïëc	n	feast
tïët		tït	n	magician, traditional religion
tïk	Н	tïëwë	n	chin
tïk	L	tïëu	n	cloudy day
tïö			dem	those (near hearer)
tiïc			v.in	be tight
tïït		tïitë	n	mahogany tree
tök		töwë	n	laugh
tompiny		tompieeny	n	groundnut
tooŋ			v.in	jump
tööŋ			v.tr	advise someone
tuaany		tuany	n	sickness
tueŋ		tuen	n	knot, dark spot in wood
tuëk		tuäk	n	harvest seaon
tuŋ		tuöŋ	n	branch (of tree), horn (of animal)
tuol		tuol	n	smoke
tuoŋ		tuoŋ	n	egg
tuor		tuorë	n	flower
tuööl		tul	n	initiation (of girl)
tuööu		tuk	n	playing (of child)
tur		tuör	n	dust
tut		tut	n	male
tuut		tuutë	n	bull, male cow not castrated
				,
Th th				
thal		thol	n	early or late sun
thar			n	waist
thääŋ		thäŋ	n	side of body, other side
theu	L	thëk	n	menstrual period
theu	H		v.in	respect, avoid
theem	L	them	n	trying, testing
theem	H		v.in	try, test, measure
thëc		thäc	n	dew
thëk		thëëu	n	bull with twisted horns
thieec		thiëc	n	request
thieei		thiëc	n	stick, club of ebony
		VIII-0-0	11	2221, 2100 01 00011

thiol		thïööl		n	fat
thïäk		thïääu		n	neighbour
thïëŋ		thïëëŋ		n	gazelle, antelope
thiïn		thin		n	breast
thot		thöt		n	wooden peg
thöl		thol		n	wall
thöl		thööl		n	snake
thuny		thuöönyë		n	nasal mucus
thuok		thuuk		n	mouth, language, message
thuom		thuoomë			harp instrument
thuöu		thuk		n	end (of something)
thuööm		thum		n	, <u> </u>
				n	ghost, spirit
thuööny		thuny		n	wood, tree trunk
W w					
wac		wacë		n	paternal aunt
wai		waath		n	vulture
waŋ		nyin		n	eye, face, stream
wat	L	wat	L	n	blood relative
wään		wän		n	place, way, method
weer	Н	wër		n	blessing
weer	dН			v.in	bless, praise
weer	Н			v.tr	bless someone
WËÏ		wuc		n	cattle camp, clan name
wënë		,, ac		adv	here
wët		wät		n	belief
wëth	L	wëth	Н	n	buttock
wëël	L	wal	11	n	herb, medicine, drug
wëël	Н	wai		num	ten
weer	Н	wäärë		n	night
weer wëër	L	wäare wër			_
	L			n	dung
wum		wuum		n	nose
wut		wuöt		n	ostrich
Yу					
yai		yayë		n	joy, rejoicing
yak		yau		n	famine, drought, dry period
yaŋ		γök		n	cow
yath		yathë		n	charm (for magic)
yäkyäk		yäkyäkë		n	lung
yeeth		yöu		n	money
yër		yieer		n	river, lake
yieei		yëï		n	breath, spirit
yiet		yit		n	finger, toe
yïëï		J		n.pl	soul, spirit, life
yïël		yäl		n.pr	forest
y 101		yuı		11	101001

yïëu	yïk	n	spell, curse
yïëër	yïr	n	paint
yəəi		v.in	run
yuaal	yuaalë	n	wisker (of cat, dog)
yuïc	yoth	n	head
yuïïr	yuër	n	venom, poison of snake

Glossary

The meanings of special English words are given below with examples in Reel.

Word	Example	Definition
syllable	pa la ta in	The parts of a word that can be divided
	palata 'fish hook, line'	according to beats.
consonant	p w r in	Letter sounds that begin or end syllables; a
	pewεεr 'famine'	consonant cannot be a syllable by itself.
vowel	e εε in	Letter sounds in the middle and sometimes
	peweer 'famine'	end of a syllable; a vowel can be a syllable by itself.
breathy vowel	ёё in kёёt 'falcon, hawk'	Vowels pronounced with more air.
non-breathy	εε in	Vowels without extra air.
vowel	keet 'walking stick'	
long vowel	aa in gaak 'jaw'	Vowels that take longer to pronounce.
short vowel	a in gak 'peel, skin'	Vowels that are pronounced quickly.
tone	the difference in sound	How high or low the sound of the syllable
	between	is, or how the sound rises or falls.
	wëër 'night' and	
-	wëër 'dung'	
noun	rel 'fox'	A person, animal, place, thing, or idea.
singular noun	dap 'lazy person'	Only one of a noun.
plural noun	dapë 'lazy persons'	More than one of a noun.
verb	bak 'cut open'	Is an action, motion, state, change, or can
-		be used as an equal sign between words.
transitive verb	bak 'cut open' in	A verb that have an object that receives the
	Nuëër göör be dö bak.	action.
	'Person wants to <u>cut</u>	
	open a thing.'	
intransitive	bak 'cut open' in	A verb that does not have an object.
verb	Nuëër göör be bak.	
	'Person wants to <u>cut</u>	
	open.'	
number	rou 'two'	Tells how many of a noun there is.
pronoun	ko 'we (not you)'	Takes the place of a noun.

Answers to Exercises

Answers to the exercises of this book are given below.

Exercise 1

a	<u>ayak</u>	γ	<u>yöt</u>	o	gok
ä	<u>gääk</u>	i	dit	ö	<u>pör</u>
b	<u>buol</u>	ï	<u>jïc</u>	Э	<u>loc</u>
c	<u>cil</u>	j	<u>jök</u>	ö	<u>dök</u>
d	<u>del</u>	k	<u>kəm</u>	p	pai
dh	<u>dhəl</u>	1	<u>luok</u>	r	<u>rel</u>
e	<u>yeeth</u>	m	<u>mök</u>	t	<u>tëër</u>
ë	<u>bëël</u>	n	<u>nok</u>	th	<u>thïëŋ</u>
ε	<u>keet</u>	nh	<u>nhïër</u>	u	guu
Ë	<u>këët</u>	ny	<u>nyaŋ</u>	W	wut
g	gat	ŋ	<u>ŋät</u>	y	yaŋ

Exercise 2

number of syllables		divided	into sylla	ables	
2	balthuur	<u>bal</u>	<u>thuur</u>		monitor lizard
<u>3</u>	muərkaba	<u>muər</u>	<u>ka</u>	<u>ba</u>	bag
<u>2</u>	bedëk	<u>bε</u>	<u>dëk</u>		eight
<u>1</u>	mök	<u>mök</u>			buffalo
<u>2</u>	raaljioou	<u>raal</u>	<u>jioou</u>		rainbow
<u>2</u>	cöwë	<u>cö</u>	<u>wë</u>		termites (pl)
<u>1</u>	mïëëth	mïëëth			food, crop, resource
<u>3</u>	Alaathbuor	<u>A</u>	<u>laath</u>	<u>buor</u>	July
<u>1</u>	thuok	thuok			mouth, language
<u>3</u>	amëmïëër	<u>a</u>	<u>më</u>	<u>mïëër</u>	dusk, twilight
<u>2</u>	guänjäär	<u>guän</u>	<u>jäär</u>		bush dweller
<u>1</u>	gääk	gääk			wing
<u>2</u>	ກວ່ວກວ່ວກ	<u>nöö</u>	<u>ŋööŋ</u>		poorly
<u>2</u>	näädö	<u>nää</u>	<u>dö</u>		perhaps
<u>1</u>	cïëëŋ	cïëëŋ			home, land
<u>2</u>	pälŋëc	<u>päl</u>	<u>ŋëc</u>		initiation (for boy)
2 3 2 1 2 1 3 2 1 2 1 2 2 1 2 2 1 2 2 2 2	dëkerë	<u>dë</u>	<u>ke</u>	<u>rë</u>	hot season (pl)
<u>2</u>	acaar	<u>a</u>	<u>caar</u>		fish

Exercise 3

(g) ë (m) cheek

m u ɔ r k a b a bag

p ä l ŋ ɛ c initiation (of boy)

a d u a ny cripple person

nh i a n testicle

y i ɛ t finger, toe

a b aa r orphan

w ɛ th buttock

y ɔ r swamp area

dh ɔ l boy

j ë p axe

Exercise 4

Test Word		Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
t eem	trying, testing	<u>theem</u>	tuoom	harp instrument	<u>thuoom</u>
t iar	flour	<u>tiar</u>	th εi	stick	<u>tei</u>
th uɛŋ	dark spot in wood	<u>tuen</u>	th ot	wooden peg	<u>thot</u>
a th ëën	yesterday	<u>athëën</u>	a t ak	back of head	<u>athak</u>
a th er	conflict, hatred	<u>ater</u>	ïtïëëp	shade, shadow	<u>itiëëp</u>
jïëë th	mark (on ground)	<u>jïëët</u>	wut	ostrich	<u>wut</u>
ruë t	chief	<u>ruëth</u>	bïää t	pumpkin	<u>bïääth</u>
kö th	shield	<u>köt</u>	nyuöö th	point (of something)	nyuöö th

Exercise 5

Test Wo	ord	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
dh iaal	all	<u>diaal</u>	a d iəəŋu	what	a d iooŋu
d ïëëc	five	<u>dh</u> ïëëc	dh el	goat	<u>del</u>
d ör	tribe	<u>dör</u>	be dh ëk	eight	<u>bedëk</u>
a d uur	hammer	<u>adhuur</u>	dh al	fail something	<u>dhal</u>

Test Wo	ord	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
no b	message	no p	keeth	cow urine	<u>keeth</u>
d o dh ë	virgins	<u>dothë</u>	wään b u d ë	place of wound	wään b utë
dh əl	boy	<u>dhol</u>	cath	tree, firewood	<u>jath</u>
g a d	child	gat	yuï j	head	<u>yuïc</u>
wa j ë	aunts	<u>wacë</u>	a d uany	crippled person	<u>aduany</u>
a k ä k	game	a g ä k	dh öö g ë	leopard skins	<u>dhöökë</u>
tök	river	<u>dök</u>	wään tə p ë	place of tobacco	wään t ɔpë

daŋ elder mäth drink ŋät oil mac mäth daŋ elder kar branches ŋät oil kär daŋ elder jal guest, visitor ŋät oil jäl kaak field kaaŋ proverb ŋääth illness kääŋ kaak field bääc calf (of leg) ŋääth illness baac kaak field määl wealth ŋääth illness määl jeth scorpion cëŋ strap jëp axe cëk jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken reët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këŋ groan (with pain) qëm thigh këŋ keŋ keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend geer fence wëër dung mep burn something lent rusting pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen test walking etck seer fence keeth rusting pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen test walking etck seer fence keeth rusting pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen test walking etck seer fence keeth rusting pen testing pen			Test W	ord			Write correctly
daŋ elder jal guest, visitor ŋät oil kär jäl kaak field kaaŋ proverb ŋääth illness kääŋ kaak field bääc calf (of leg) ŋääth illness baac kaak field määl wealth ŋääth illness määl jeth scorpion cëh wife jëp axe ceŋ jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken reët yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këŋ groan (with pain) yëm thigh keŋ keth rusting thec dew yeëm thigh thëc geer fence wëër dung pen towns (pl) keth rusting nep jeth scorpion rel fox pen towns (pl) keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting nep pen	daŋ	elder	m ä c	family	ŋät	oil	<u>mac</u>
dan elder jal guest, visitor nät oil jäl kaak field kaan proverb nääth illness kään kaak field bääc calf (of leg) nääth illness baac kaak field määl wealth nääth illness määl jeth scorpion cën strap jëp axe cën jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken rëët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh kën keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend geer fence wëër dung mëth friend theem jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting keth rusting keth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	daŋ	elder	m ä th	drink	ŋät	oil	<u>mäth</u>
kaak field kaan proverb nääth illness kään kaak field bääc calf (of leg) nääth illness baac kaak field määl wealth nääth illness määl jeth scorpion cën strap jëp axe cën jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken peth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting kën groan (with pain) keth rusting thec dew yeim dura teër fence wëër dung mëth friend mëth friend mëth scorpion tel fox keth rusting keth scorpion tel fox keth rusting keth scorpion nep burn something jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting nëth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl)	daŋ	elder	k a r	branches	ŋät	oil	<u>kär</u>
kaak field bääc calf (of leg) njääth illness baac määl jeth scorpion cën strap jëp axe cën jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe gëm yeeth money peël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth rusting kën groan (with pain) keth rusting thec dew geer fence theem trying, testing pen scorpion ket swim jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen towns (pl)	daŋ	elder	jal	guest, visitor	ŋät	oil	<u>jäl</u>
kaak field määl wealth nääth illness määl jeth scorpion cën strap jëp axe cen jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken rëët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing ger fence wëër dung mëëth friend ger fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	kaak	field	kaaŋ	proverb	ŋääth	illness	k ää ŋ
jeth scorpion cëh strap jëp axe cëh jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe gëm yeeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh kën kën keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting keth rusting keth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	kaak	field	b ää c	calf (of leg)	ŋääth	illness	baac
jeth scorpion cëk wife jëp axe cëk jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken rëët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh ken keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend theem geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting ket jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	kaak	field	m ää l	wealth	ŋääth	illness	m ää l
jeth scorpion rel termite mound jëp axe rel jëth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken rëët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh ken keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting keth rusting keth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting rel jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	jeth	scorpion	c ë ŋ	strap	jëp	axe	cen
jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken bëël yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting leth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting pen	jeth	scorpion	c ë k	wife		axe	_
jeth scorpion gem cheek jëp axe gëm yeeth money reet razor tëër chicken rëët yeeth money bëël sorghum, dura tëër chicken bëël yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh ken keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend theem geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting tel jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	jeth	scorpion	rel	termite mound	jëp	axe	rel
yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh ken thigh ken thigh thec dew yëm thigh thec geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting town towns (pl)	jeth	scorpion	g e m	cheek	jëp	axe	g ë m
yeeth money këeth cow urine tëër chicken keeth keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh ken keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thëc geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend theem geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting ket jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting rel jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	yeeth	money	reet	razor	tëër	chicken	r ëë t
keth rusting këny debt yëm thigh këny keth rusting kën groan (with pain) yëm thigh ken keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thece geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend theem geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting keth rusting rel jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	yeeth	money	b ëë l	sorghum, dura	tëër	chicken	b ëë l
kethrustingkëŋgroan (with pain)yëmthighkenkethrustingthecdewyëmthighthëcgeerfencetheemtrying, testingmëëthfriendtheemgeerfencewëërdungmëëthfriendwëërjethscorpionketswimkethrustingketjethscorpionrelfoxkethrustingreljethscorpionnepburn somethingkethrustingnepjethscorpionpentowns (pl)kethrustingpen	yeeth	money	k ëe th	cow urine	tëër	chicken	keeth
keth rusting këŋ groan (with pain) yëm thigh keŋ keth rusting thec dew yëm thigh thec geer fence theem trying, testing mëëth friend theem geer fence wëër dung mëëth friend wëër jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting ket jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	keth	rusting	k ë ny	debt	γëm	thigh	k ë ny
geer fence weer dung meeth friend weer jeth scorpion nep burn something jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) meeth friend weer meeth friend weer weer weer dung meeth friend weer weer weer dung meeth friend weer weer weer jeth friend weer jeth friend weer weer jeth friend weer jeth f	keth	rusting	k ë ŋ	groan (with pain)	γëm	_	ken
geer fence wer dung meëth friend wer jeth scorpion ket swim keth rusting ket jeth scorpion rel fox keth rusting rel jeth scorpion nep burn something keth rusting nep jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	keth	rusting	thec	dew	γëm	thigh	thëc
geerfencewëërdungmëëthfriendwëërjethscorpionketswimkethrustingketjethscorpionrelfoxkethrustingreljethscorpionnepburn somethingkethrustingnepjethscorpionpentowns (pl)kethrustingpen	geer	fence	theem	trying, testing	mëëth	friend	theem
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	_	fence	w ëë r		mëëth	friend	w ëë r
jethscorpionrelfoxkethrustingreljethscorpionnepburn somethingkethrustingnepjethscorpionpentowns (pl)kethrustingpen	jeth	scorpion	kεt	swim	keth	rusting	ket
jeth scorpion pen towns (pl) keth rusting pen	jeth	-	rel	fox	keth	rusting	<u> </u>
	jeth	scorpion	n e p	burn something	keth	rusting	n e p
yeath manay keet walking stick soon fance keet	jeth	scorpion	pεn	towns (pl)	keth	rusting	pεn
yeem money keel warking suck geel tence <u>keel</u>	yeeth	money	kεεt	walking stick	geer	fence	keet
yeeth money teet hand geer fence teet	yeeth	money	teet	hand	geer	fence	teet
yeeth money ceer morning star geer fence ceer	yeeth	money	ceer	morning star	geer	fence	ceer
jëp axe y ë r river, lake yëm thigh y ë r	jëp	axe	y ë r	river, lake	γëm	thigh	y ë r
jëp axe l ë c $semen$ yëm $thigh$ $\overline{\underline{l}\underline{\ddot{\mathbf{E}}\mathbf{C}}}$		axe	l ë c	semen	γëm	thigh	lëc
jëp axe cël elbow yëm thigh <u>cël</u>		axe	c ë l	elbow	γëm	thigh	<u>cël</u>
tëër <i>chicken</i> g ë m <i>midwife</i> mëëth <i>friend</i> g ë m	tëër	chicken	g ëë m	midwife	mëëth	friend	g ëë m
tëër <i>chicken</i> w ëë r <i>night</i> mëëth <i>friend</i> w ëë r	tëër	chicken	w ëë r	night	mëëth	friend	wëër
tëër <i>chicken</i> m ë ëk <i>kindness</i> mëëth <i>friend</i> <u>mëëk</u>	tëër	chicken	m ëë k	kindness	mëëth	friend	<u>mëëk</u>
lip tongue tic feast jïc ear <u>tïc</u>	lip	tongue	tic	feast	jïc	ear	tic
lip tongue rit ebony tree jïc ear <u>rit</u>	lip	tongue	r i t	ebony tree	jïc	ear	
lip tongue tik chin jic ear <u>tik</u>	_	tongue	tïk	chin	_	ear	
lip tongue jïc stomach jïc ear jic	lip	tongue	j ï c	stomach	jïc	ear	<u>jic</u>
diit birds th i in breast riin meat th i in	diit	birds	th ii n	breast	riiŋ	meat	th ii n
diit birds tiil rings, irons (pl) riin meat tiil	diit	birds	t ïi l	rings, irons (pl)	_	meat	<u>tiil</u>
diit birds tiit mahogany tree riin meat tiit	diit	birds	t ïi t	•		meat	
doth virgin lol valley jök dog <u>lol</u>	doth	virgin	lol	valley	jök	dog	lol
doth <i>virgin</i> por <i>road, path</i> jök <i>dog</i> <u>pör</u>	doth	_	p o r	road, path			

doth	virgin	b o l	flame	jök	dog	<u>böl</u>
nooŋ	wedding	coor	blindness	dhöök	skin	<u>cöör</u>
nooŋ	wedding	r öö k	molar tooth	dhöök	skin	<u>rook</u>
γor	swamp	j ö r	forest	ŋöp	fig	<u>jör</u>
γor	swamp	k ö m	stool, chair	ŋöp	fig	<u>kom</u>
γor	swamp	γol	arm	ŋöp	fig	<u>yöl</u>
γor	swamp	j o k	magic, god	ŋöp	fig	<u>jok</u>
kəər	forearm	ŋ ɔ ŋ	oppress someone	thööl	snakes	<u>໗ວ່ວ່໗</u>
kəər	forearm	j ɔɔ m	wind	thööl	snakes	<u>joom</u>
kəər	forearm	k öö r	forearm	thööl	snakes	<u>koor</u>
doth	virgin	thot	wooden peg	γor	swamp	<u>thot</u>
doth	virgin	n o k	feather	γor	swamp	<u>nok</u>
doth	virgin	n o p	message	γor	swamp	<u>nop</u>
doth	virgin	dhol	boy	γor	swamp	<u>dhol</u>
nooŋ	wedding	goon	hospitality	kəər	forearm	goon
nooŋ	wedding	уээс	buy something	kəər	forearm	<u>γ၁၁c</u>
nooŋ	wedding	door	peace	kəər	forearm	<u>door</u>
jök	dog	d ö r	tribe	ŋöp	fig	<u>dör</u>
jök	dog	r ö th	armpit	ŋöp	fig	<u>röth</u>
jök	dog	r ö l	voice	ŋöp	fig	<u>röl</u>
dhöök	skin	l öö m	borrow, take s.m.	thööl	snakes	<u>lööm</u>
dhöök	skin	k öö m	beat, thresh s.m.	thööl	snakes	<u>kööm</u>
dut	grass	g u k	quiver, bag	doth	virgin	<u>gok</u>
dut	grass	dol	bundle	doth	virgin	<u>dul</u>
muuth	darkness	tuut	bull	nooŋ	wedding	<u>tuut</u>

		Test W	ord			Write correctly
daŋ	elder	γ a r	plank of wood	kaak	field	mac
daŋ	elder	ny a l	girl, daughter	kaak	field	<u>nyal</u>
daŋ	elder	ŋ aa k	pus	kaak	field	<u>ŋak</u>
ŋät	oil	m ää th	drink	ŋääth	illness	<u>mäth</u>
ŋät	oil	r ä l	muscle	ŋääth	illness	<u>rääl</u>
ŋät	oil	ŋ ä r	bean	ŋääth	illness	<u>ŋär</u>
ŋät	oil	g ä k	wing	ŋääth	illness	g ää k
jeth	scorpion	reel	fox	yeeth	money	<u>rel</u>
jeth	scorpion	teeŋ	music, beating	yeeth	money	teen
jeth	scorpion	ceer	morning star	yeeth	money	<u>ceer</u>
jëp	axe	l ë k	word, speaking	tëër	chicken	lëk
jëp	axe	r ë t	razor	tëër	chicken	<u>rëët</u>
keth	rusting	рееп	fall	geer	fence	рееп
keth	rusting	th ee m	trying, testing	geer	fence	<u>theem</u>
keth	rusting	р єє п	towns (pl)	geer	fence	p e n
keth	rusting	n € p	burn something	geer	fence	nεp

γëm	thigh	cël	fish type	mëëth	friend	<u>cël</u>
γëm	thigh	g ë m	midwife	mëëth	friend	g ëë m
γëm	thigh	cëëŋ	day	mëëth	friend	<u>cëŋ</u>
lip	tongue	l ii ŋ	hear something	diit	birds	lin
lip	tongue	ciir	discuss something	diit	birds	<u>ciir</u>
lip	tongue	cil	slice something	diit	birds	<u>ciil</u>
lip	tongue	r i ŋ	run	diit	birds	<u>rin</u>
jïc	ear	d ii r	bump (in ground)	rïïŋ	meat	dir
jïc	ear	t ïi t	mahogany tree	rïïŋ	meat	<u>tiit</u>
jïc	ear	t ïi k	chin	rïïŋ	meat	<u>tik</u>
jïc	ear	l ïi m	messenger	riïŋ	meat	<u>liim</u>
doth	virgin	γ o ŋ	opening, hole	nooŋ	wedding	<u>yon</u>
doth	virgin	r o k	molar tooth	nooŋ	wedding	<u>rook</u>
doth	virgin	k o m	bark, shell	nooŋ	wedding	<u>kom</u>
doth	virgin	dor	peace	nooŋ	wedding	<u>door</u>
jök	dog	b öö r	full moon	dhöök	skin	<u>böör</u>
jök	dog	l ö ŋ	rule	dhöök	skin	<u>lööŋ</u>
jök	dog	b ö m	hump (of cow)	dhöök	skin	<u>böm</u>
jök	dog	k öö r	fighting, arguing	dhöök	skin	<u>kör</u>
γor	swamp	koom	stool, chair	kəər	forearm	<u>kom</u>
γɔr	swamp	lor	be empty	kəər	forearm	<u>lor</u>
γɔr	swamp	gol	be new	kəər	forearm	gool
ŋöp	fig	k öö m	beat, thresh something	thööl	snakes (pl)	<u>kööm</u>
ŋöp	fig	ŋ öö ŋ	be poor	thööl	snakes (pl)	<u>ŋöŋ</u>
dut	grass	d u r	eloping	muuth	darkness	<u>duur</u>
dut	grass	tur	dust	muuth	darkness	<u>tur</u>
dut	grass	tuut	bull	muuth	darkness	tuut
dut	grass	luuth	mud fish	muuth	darkness	<u>luth</u>

Test Word		Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
tiaar	flour	<u>tiar</u>	guëi	giraffes (pl)	guei
bïäth	pumpkin	<u>bïäth</u>	yiëi	life, spirit	<u>yïëï</u>
dïäth	rag, old cloth	<u>dïääth</u>	riëëï	rats (pl)	<u>riëëi</u>
yieei	spirit, breath	<u>yieei</u>	yieet	finger, toe	<u>yiet</u>
kai	first born	<u>käi</u>	rieem	blood	<u>rieem</u>
taai	open place	<u>taai</u>	bεi	pain	<u>bei</u>
niëu	co-wife	<u>niëu</u>	nïën	day	<u>niëën</u>
lëëï	animal	<u>lëï</u>	liooŋ	pot hole	lion
boi	fears (pl)	<u>boi</u>	jïöü	dogs (pl)	jiöu
γööi	hip	<u> </u>	thiol	fat	<u>thiol</u>
yəəi	run	<u>yəəi</u>	lïöök	earthworm	<u>lïöök</u>
ruoi	maggot	<u>ruöï</u>	guäŋ	swelling	guan

käu	bride	<u>kau</u>	tuaany	sickness	tuaany
kuäth	bone marrow	<u>kuäth</u>	teu	life	<u>teu</u>
lääü	dreams (pl)	<u>lääu</u>	kueeth	cockroaches (pl)	kueeth
cuëër	thieves (pl)	<u>cuëër</u>	kueu	cockroach	<u>kuëu</u>
kuel	star	<u>kuel</u>	cuëny	liver	cuëny
nyïëü	co-wife	<u>nyïëu</u>	duëny	lame person	duëëny
cuic	hoofs (pl)	<u>cuic</u>	cuii	soup	<u>cuii</u>
yuic	head	<u>yuïc</u>	yuïïr	snake venom	<u>yuïïr</u>
tuol	smoke	<u>tuol</u>	coou	husband	cou
thuoom	harp	<u>thuoom</u>	yöu	monies (pl)	<u>yöu</u>
ciööu	footprint	<u>cïööu</u>	tuor	flower	<u>tuor</u>
jööu	gods (pl)	<u>joou</u>	ruön	year	<u>ruöön</u>
thuöu	end	<u>thuöu</u>	ŋuöl	crowd	<u>ŋuöl</u>

Test Word		Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
a i ak	lion	<u>ayak</u>	bε y	pain	<u>bei</u>
wään böö y ë	place of fear	wään bööyë	puöö u ë	air pumps	puöö w ë
tew	life	<u>teu</u>	yooi	run	<u>yəəi</u>
a u aŋ	tobacco	<u>awan</u>	lö y	umbilical cord	<u>löï</u>
yö u	monies (pl)	<u>yöu</u>	асёсиєє у ё	whips	асёсиєє у ё
rïë ï	canoe, boat	<u>riëi</u>	wään thu w ë	place of end	wään thuwë
aga u ë	grasses	<u>agawë</u>	lë ï	animal	<u>lëï</u>
wään luu i ë	place of work	wään luu y ë	taa y ë	open places	<u>taayë</u>
baa u	cracks (pl)	<u>baau</u>	wään ya i ë	place of joy	wään ya y ë

Test V	Vord	Write correctly	Test Word		Write correctly
dä g	river	<u>dök</u>	c uë ny	liver	<u>cuëny</u>
g aa k	field, garden	<u>kaak</u>	keedh	cow urine	<u>keeth</u>
baa w	cracks (pl)	<u>baau</u>	yooi	run	<u>yəəi</u>
di d	bird (general)	<u>dit</u>	wään tə b ë	place of tobacco	wään topë
rii j ë	rafters	<u>rïicë</u>	wään böö ï ë	place of fear	wään böö y ë
taa y ë	open places	<u>taayë</u>	rïë y	canoe, boat	<u>riëi</u>
k äi	first born	<u>käï</u>	a d uany	crippled person	<u>aduany</u>
a g ä g	game	a g ä k	ŋ ü öl	crowd	<u>ŋuöl</u>
yö w	monies (pl)	<u>yöu</u>	wään thu u ë	place of end	wään thuwë
l ëi	animal	<u>lëï</u>	da p ë	lazy persons	<u>dapë</u>
n ïëü	co-wife	<u>nïëu</u>	wään thiëëcë	place of request	wään thiëëcë
bεi	pain	<u>bεi</u>	асёсиєє у ё	whips	асёсиєє у ё

	-
--	---